Dissertationes Forestales 250

Developing forest chips supply chains by redesigning supply operations and logistics

Kari Väätäinen

School of Forest Sciences Faculty of Science and Forestry University of Eastern Finland

Academic dissertation

To be presented with the permission of the Faculty of Sciences and Forestry of the University of Eastern Finland, for public criticism in the Metla-talo Auditorium Käpy, Yliopistokatu 6, Joensuu, on February 23th 2018, at 12 o'clock noon. *Title of dissertation:* Developing forest chips supply chains by redesigning supply operations and logistics

Author: Kari Väätäinen

Dissertationes Forestales 250

https://doi.org/10.14214/df.250 Use licence CC BY-NC-ND 4.0

Thesis supervisors: Professor Antti Asikainen Natural Resources Institute Finland, Joensuu, Finland

Doctor Jukka Malinen Department Faculty of Science and Forestry, School of Forest Sciences

Doctor Lauri Sikanen Natural Resources Institute Finland, Joensuu, Finland

Pre-examiners: Associate professor Lars Eliasson Skogforsk, Uppsala Science Park, Uppsala, Sweden

Doctor Bruce Talbot Norwegian Institute of Bioeconomy Research, Ås, Norway

Opponent: Professor Rolf Björheden Skogforsk, Uppsala Science Park, Uppsala, Sweden

ISSN 1795-7389 (online) ISBN 978-951-651-590-1 (pdf)

ISSN 2323-9220 (print) ISBN 978-951-651-591-8 (paperback)

Publishers: Finnish Society of Forest Science Faculty of Agriculture and Forestry of the University of Helsinki School of Forest Sciences of the University of Eastern Finland

Editorial Office: Finnish Society of Forest Science Viikinkaari 6, FI-00790 Helsinki, Finland http://www.dissertationesforestales.fi **Väätäinen K.** (2018). Developing forest chips supply chains by redesigning supply operations and logistics. Dissertationes Forestales 250. 75p. https://doi.org/10.14214/df.250

ABSTRACT

The overall aim of the thesis was to design efficient supply chain setups in the selected supply environments by enhancing overall supply system performance, decreasing supply costs and improving year-round working opportunities by taking fuel properties through the supply chain into account. The supply chain re-engineering approach has been used with a narrowed focus, where logistics and inventory, material handling and delivery of forest chips to heat and power plant as well as the customer's desideratum have been considered. The studied supply chains were all based on the transportation of forest biomass as chipped from roadside storage locations either directly to power plant or via terminal or inland waterway harbour to power plant by chip truck or a combination of barge and chip truck.

Discrete event simulation was selected as a study method due to the characteristics of the forest chip supply chains including the high level of interactions between system elements and the specific characteristics of the supply environment. The data required for the model development and models' parameter input values were acquired from the available data of the real system and from the literature.

To enhance the performance of the forest chip supply chain from roadside storage locations to end-use facilities, the following results and conclusions were obtained: 1) Rearrangements in the set-up of fuel reception stations and the logistics of fuel truck reception at the power plant as well as adaptive shift scheduling of trucks resulted in a notable decrease in the waiting times of fuel trucks at the power plant's fuel reception. 2) Forest chip supply from roadside storage locations highly encourages the use of storage area location and quality information for smart material allocation to achieve a higher energy output with lower supply costs, especially when the demand for fuel is at its highest. 3) By introducing a feed-in terminal for forest chip supply, cost compensation for additional terminal-driven costs can be gained through a higher annual capacity utilisation of a fuel supply fleet and more secured fuel supply to power plants by decreasing the need for supplemental fuel, which can be more expensive at times when fuel demand is at its highest. Terminal-aided forest chip supply facilitates smoother working throughout the year in the chipping and transporting of forest chips, thus offering more stable working opportunities than a conventional direct supply of forest chips. 4) Inland waterway areas with existing waterway infrastructure and close connections to biomass resources and enduse facilities can offer a cost-competitive and supplemental method for the long distance transport of forest chips. Reshaping the conventional fleet used for waterway transport and restructuring the logistics of waterway transportation together with harbour operations can improve the cost-competitiveness of the transport method.

The cost-efficiency of forest chip supply for heat and energy generation can be further enhanced with the support of research and technology development.

Keywords: Discrete-event simulation, supply chain re-engineering, logistics, forest chips, terminal, chipper, chip-truck, waterway transport

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I want to thank Prof. Antti Asikainen for giving the opportunity for me to join in the forest technology team at Metla, Joensuu and to work in various research projects. In addition, Antti has supported the work for finishing the dissertation. The support and bright instructions from Dr Jukka Malinen have been essential in finalizing my doctoral dissertation. I am grateful for Dr Lauri Sikanen for believing me in the very first research project of mine. I am very grateful for my supervisors for their support and encouragement along this journey of exploration.

I want to thank the colleagues in the former Metla and currently in Luke, with whom I have been working in different projects: Dr Perttu Anttila, Mr Robert Prinz, Dr Juha Laitila, Dr Yrjö Nuutinen, Dr Johanna Routa, Mr Timo Muhonen, Mr Karri Pasanen, Dr Matti Sirén, Mr Harri Lindeman and Dr Jari Ala-Ilomäki. Prof. Jori Uusitalo and Dr Paula Jylhä have supported and encouraged in finishing the dissertation by being understanding superiors.

I wish to convey my deepest gratitude to the pre-examiners Associate Prof. Lars Eliasson and Dr. Bruce Talbot for their invaluable comments and suggestions that have both improved the thesis and given confidence in the content of the manuscript.

My thanks go also to the co-authors with whom I had a chance to write thesis articles with high expertise. In this thesis I had the honour to reuse the joint articles by Dr Kalle Karttunen and by Dr Johannes Windisch. I want to thank all the colleagues who have contributed in the studies and projects related to the thesis. Not to forget the importance of free time activities, and especially different sports, I also want to acknowledge my friends associated with these.

For finalising the thesis work, financial support and contribution has been received from Luke's special funding for finalisation of doctoral dissertation and from the FORBIOproject (Sustainable, climate-neutral and resource-efficient forest-based bioeconomy). I am gratefully acknowledging this essential support.

I express my gratitude to my parents Eeva and Reijo and my sister Tiina. To forget the work matters, Pörsänmäki has been the place for practical operations and free time activities, such as forestry work and hunting. My parents as well as my uncle Kari have provided a lot of unforgettable experiences in the heart of Savo region.

Last but not least, I thank my dear family, my life-companion Reeta, son Akseli and Saku the dog. You have believed in me and had the well needed patience during this thesis work.

Joensuu, February 2018 Kari Väätäinen

LIST OF ORIGINAL ARTICLES

This dissertation consists of a summary and the following four articles, which are referred to by Roman numerals I–IV. All articles (I, II, III and IV) are reprints of previously published articles reprinted with the permission of the publisher.

- Väätäinen K., Asikainen, A., Eronen, J. (2005). Improving the Logistics of Biofuel Reception at the Power Plant of Kuopio City. International Journal of Forest Engineering 16(1): 51-64. https://journals.lib.unb.ca/index.php/ijfe/article/view/9840/9971
- II Windisch J., Väätäinen K., Anttila P., Nivala M., Laitila J., Asikainen A., Sikanen L. (2015). Discrete-event simulation of an information-based raw material allocation process for increasing the efficiency of an energy wood supply chain. Applied Energy 149: 315–325. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2015.03.122
- III Väätäinen K., Prinz R., Malinen J., Laitila J., Sikanen L. (2017). Alternative operation models for using a feed-in terminal as a part of the forest chip supply system for a CHP plant. Global Change Biology Bioenergy 9(11): 1657–1673. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcbb.12463
- IV Karttunen K., Väätäinen K., Asikainen A., Ranta T. (2012). The operational efficiency of waterway transport of forest chips on Finland's Lake Saimaa. Silva Fennica 46(3): 395–413. https://doi.org/10.14214/sf.49

Article I: Kari Väätäinen and Antti Asikainen carried out the data collection and study design. The author had the responsibility of structuring the simulation model, running the simulations and analysing the result data of simulations. The author took the main responsibility for writing the article with the help of co-authors.

Article II: Johannes Windisch and the author shared responsibility for the method selection, study design, data analysis, interpretation of results and writing of the article. The author was responsible for data collection and Johannes Windisch for data preparation and development of the simulation model. The co-authors improved the article by commenting on the study setup and the manuscript.

Article III: The author, Lauri Sikanen and Robert Prinz completed the study design. The author developed the simulation model, run the simulations and made the analysis of simulation output data. The author and Robert Prinz wrote the first sketch of the article. The other co-authors contributed to the writing of the article.

Article IV: Kalle Karttunen took the main responsibility for data collection and data analysis. The author designed the simulation model, made the simulations and interpretation of simulation results. Kalle Karttunen and the author wrote the first sketch of the article. The co-authors took part in the study design and reshaping the article.

CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	3
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	4
LIST OF ORIGINAL ARTICLES	5
1. INTRODUCTION	9
1.1 Background	9
1.2 Supply chains of forest chips for heat and energy production	
1.3 Fuel quality aspects	
1.4 Supply chain management and re-engineering	
1.5 Discrete-event simulation as a study method	
1.5.1 Simulation as a part of Operations Research	
1.5.2 Discrete event simulation	
1.5.3 DES method in modelling forest chip supply chain and logistics	
1.6 Structure of the thesis	
1.7 Objectives of the thesis	
2. MATERIAL AND METHODS	26
2.1. Re-engineering the fuel reception at the CHP-power plant (Article I)	
2.1.1 Description of the case study	
2.1.2 Material for the study	
2.1.3 Modelling the system environment of the case	
2.1.4 Study scenarios	
2.2 Smart biomass storage allocation for enhanced forest chip supply (Article II).	
2.2.1 Description of the case study	
2.2.2 Material for the study	
2.2.3 Modelling the system environment of the case	
2.2.4 Study scenarios	
2.3 Efficient use of feed-in terminal as a part of forest chip supply (Article III)	30
2.3.1 Description of the case study	30
2.3.2 Material for the study	30
2.3.3 Modelling the system environment of the case	
2.3.4 Study scenarios	
2.4 Efficient logistics for waterway transports of forest chips (Article IV)	
2.4.1 Description of the case study	

2.4.2 Material for the study	3
2.4.3 Modelling the system environment of the case	4
2.4.4 Study scenarios	4
3. RESULTS	5
3.1 Re-engineering the fuel reception at the CHP-power plant (Article I)	6
3.1.1 Truck control at the receiving station	6
3.1.2 The effect of scheduling the truck arrivals	6
3.1.3 Improved fuel flow in plant's delivery bay 1	7
3.1.4 Increased use of forest chips	8
3.2 Smart biomass storage allocation for enhanced forest chip supply (Article II)	9
3.2.1 Impact of the control of forest fuel storage parameters on fuel supply efficiency.	y 9
3.3 Efficient use of feed-in terminal as a part of forest chip supply (Article III)4	1
3.3.1 The performance and supply costs of studied scenarios	1
3.3.2 Analysis of terminal use over the year	3
3.3.3 The impact of distance, fuel quality, terminal investment and utilization of shuttle truck on supply costs	4
3.4 Efficient logistics for waterway transports of forest chips (Article IV)4	5
3.4.1 Best logistics concept in waterway supply options	5
3.4.2 Waterway supply vs. supply by roads	8
4. DISCUSSION	9
4.1 Assessment of the research	9
4.2 Material arrival to fuel reception and timing aspects	0
4.3 Operational efficiency and monetary aspects	2
4.4 Fuel quality aspects and feedstock allocation	5
4.5 Social and environmental aspects	7
4.6 Conclusions	8
4.7 Review and research notes for the future	9
LITERATURE	1

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 Background

In EU-28 countries, wood and wood products accounted for 5.9% of the total energy consumed in 2015 (Eurostat 2017). The share of wood fuels of total energy consumption in Finland was 26% in 2016 (Luke stats 2017), the biggest share in European countries after Latvia (Eurostat 2017). Of total wood fuel use, forest chips represented around 20% in Finland (Torvelainen et al. 2014). The use of forest chips for producing heat and power increased in Finland during the last few decades though there was a decrease in use in the year 2014 (Ylitalo 2017). In 2016, total consumption of forest chips for heat and energy generation totalled 7.39 million solid-m³ (Ylitalo 2017). Around 80% of forest chips are consumed in heat and power plants and the rest is used on a small scale for heating real estate and farm buildings (Ylitalo 2017).

The wood components or stems which do not fulfil the dimensional or quality requirements of industrial roundwood are utilized for heat and energy generation (Hakkila 2004). Commonly, in early thinning or pre-commercial thinning of young stands, small sized or poor quality whole trees and delimbed stems are used for energy purposes. From regeneration cuttings interlinked to stemwood harvesting, the biomass components rejected for industrial use (including stem tops, living and dead branches, foliage, off-cuts of stems, stumps and roots) are utilized. Depending on the price levels of forest chips, competing fuels and industrial pulp wood, competition can increase in regard to small sized pulp wood dimensions. In addition, the price levels and supply chain costs of energy wood may affect the decision whether to utilize it or not.

In Finland, forest chips are produced mainly from small sized roundwood (52% in 2016), which consists of small sized whole trees, delimbed stem wood and pulp wood (Strandström 2017). Other forest chip sources and shares were logging residues 34%, stump wood 10% and big sized defect (e.g. rotten) stem wood 4% (Strandström 2017). Harvesting of small sized roundwood for energy purposes has increased rapidly within the last ten years, being less than 2 TWh in 2005 and increasing to over 7 TWh in 2015.

There are many reasons for utilizing forest chips for heat and energy purposes. The total wood volume in Finnish forests has increased steadily from the beginning of the first national inventory, in spite of increased harvesting amounts of industrial roundwood and energy wood. Sustainable and efficient forest management with regeneration, tending of seedlings and young forests, forest fertilization and intermediate felling as well as forest tree breeding have enhanced wood production in forest land areas. Young forests which require tending and treatment to ensure efficient wood production might require treatments where the extraction small sized stems can be seen as a source of energy. In addition, logging residues from spruce-dominated regeneration cuttings are forwarded with low extraction costs to the roadside storage locations using the same base machinery as in roundwood harvesting. Moreover, recovery of logging residues eases regeneration work, improving its quality and lowering its costs (Saksa et al. 2002, Harstela 2006). To conclude, energy wood extraction from forests can be seen as a part of effective forest management which is in line and in parallel with the procurement of industrial roundwood.

Forest chips from the forests of Finland are a local energy source, thus providing business and work opportunities to local people in the procurement chain from harvesting to transport, storing and comminution of woody biomass for energy. Many heating and power plants are designed to combust forest chips as a mixed fuel, thus setting the demand for forest chips and other locally produced solid based fuels such as peat, bark and sawdust. The number of heating and power plants using forest chips has increased from 365 to 860 within the ten year period of 2002–2012 (Hakkila 2004, Ylitalo 2013). In addition, according to the National Energy and Climate Strategy for 2030 conducted by the Ministry of Economic Affairs and Employment of Finland in 2017, the target is for the share of transport biofuels to be increased to 30% and 10% of bioliquids will be blended into light fuel oil used in machinery and heating (Huttunen 2017).

Forest chips made from early thinning wood and logging residues is defined as a quickly decomposing renewable energy source. Comparably, the substitute fuel in combined heat and power plants is fossil fuel such as charcoal, heavy oil or peat. The demand for stump wood has decreased during the last years partly due to it being classed as a slowly decomposing CO_2 source (Repo et al. 2011).

Finland has been committed to the EU's climate strategy goal of increasing the use of renewable energy up to 38% by 2020 (Pitkän aikavälin ilmasto ja energiastrategia 2008, Huttunen 2017). On a national level, Finland has set a goal to increase the use of forest chips to reach 29TWh by 2030 in combined heat and energy generation, representing 18% of total renewable energy use (Huttunen 2017). Furthermore, the Finnish province of North Karelia has set the ambitious target of being a fossil-fuel-free region in terms of heat generation by the year 2020 and transport fuels by the year 2030 (Farewell to ... 2015). To respond to the EU, national and regional targets, the work for sustainable and cost-efficient production and delivery of forest chips has to be done with cautious planning and with feasible and cost-efficient investments.

1.2 Supply chains of forest chips for heat and energy production

Supplying forest chips from the forest to their user (customer) is quite the opposite of traditional goods supply by roads from manufacturer and distributors to wholesalers and customers, where material from one or few locations is supplied to several locations next to customers. Material is collected and distributed from several small roadside storage locations either directly or via terminal(s) to plants for generating heat and/or energy or refining upgraded liquid fuels. Moreover, in goods supply, the points of supply and demand places are nearly always static in location, whereas the multiple supply points in forest chip supply are constantly replaced by new ones. Dispersed and constantly varying small supply points with widely varying quality affected by the weather makes great demands on supply logistics and are the reasons for the relatively high logistics costs for forest chip supply (Andersson et al. 2002, Hakkila 2004, Routa et al. 2013).

The control and management of timber supply has the same type of challenges but are more advanced than forest chip supply mostly due to its longer history, bigger business and higher impact on the national economy. In timber transportation, sophisticated routing and transport control systems help to keep track of the roadside storage locations with the demanded timber to be transported to the designated mills with prioritized orders. These applications also give suggestions to the drivers on the shortest routes to complete the transport cycles. To have reliable operator support in routing, the applications used require real time data from the road network, roadside storage locations, timber volumes, timber demand of mills, locations of trucks and their driving status (Tokola & Kalliovirta 2003, Väätäinen et al. 2012). Similar developments have taken place during the last decade in forest chip supply management for managing fuel supply particularly for large consumers of chips, yet many smaller suppliers have not started using such systems. Nowadays, there are more providers offering moderately priced supply and fleet management applications for small sized companies.

Variation of heat production through the year in heat plants in boreal conditions can be manyfold, with the demand of fuel at the high heating season being up to seven to eightfold that of the lowest heating season (Windisch 2015). Due to this, there is also high seasonal variation in forest chip supply for heat generation, which causes problems for the efficient use of the forest chip supply fleet and personnel operating them. The capacity of the supply fleet has to be adequate to cope with the highest fuel demand, thus having low machine and personnel utilization of capacity during the mid and low heating seasons results in difficulties in keeping the skilled workforce committed to their posts throughout the year (Laitila et al. 2010). In addition, the capacity of the fuel receiving stations at the heat and power plants has to be designed to follow the highest fuel demand (Väätäinen et al. 2002). Under-sized fuel receiving stations causes extra waiting times for trucks at times when transport should operate at its highest efficiency within the working day (Väätäinen et al. 2002). Challenges arise in forest chip supply due to variations in fuel quality and moisture during storage. The moisture content of stored biomass is lowest during summer, when the demand for heat and power are lowest and highest during winter, when the heat and power demand peaks. To increase the burden of chip supply difficulties caused by the winter season, milder winters together with declined quality of forest road conditions force forest chip supply operations into areas with weather sensitive road connections (Gautam et al. 2017). Moreover, traditional winters with snow cover require ploughing of forest roads to access remote fuel storage locations during the winter.

The composition of the supply chain of forest biomass depends strongly on the type and form of the material (whole trees, delimbed stems, logging residues or stumps, comminuted or uncomminuted), the transportation distances from feedstock to plant, the scale and the infrastructure of the end-use facility, and in which phase of the supply chain comminution takes place (Laitila et al. 2010). Centralized comminution is conducted next to the end-use facility or in the terminal, whereas decentralized or distributed comminution is usually carried out by mobile chippers next to feedstocks (Laitila et al. 2010).

According to research results and practical experience, in most of the cases, loose logging residues, small sized whole trees and stumps are most cost-competitive to comminute next to the roadside storage locations with mobile chippers and then transported by chip truck to the place of use. The main reason for decentralized comminution has been the low transport payload and therefore high transport costs of uncomminuted material. Centralized comminution, on the other hand, allows high chipping/crushing production, high supply volumes, use of electricity in comminution, and therefore low comminution costs. In order to increase the use of centralized comminution, the focus in development has been in the transportation of uncomminuted material. The payload of transport vehicles remains much lower than the maximum allowed capacity in mass if transporting loose logging residues, for example. According to the studies of Laitila et al. (2010), Tahvanainen & Anttila (2011) and Laitila et al. (2017), truck transport costs of forest chips from roadside landing has been $4-5.5 \notin$ solid-m³ and chipping at the roadside landing $5.5-7.5 \notin$ solid-m³ depending on the average transport distance used in the studies.

Traditionally, Finland has been a place for decentralized comminution representing a 54% share of all forest chips for heating and energy generation (Strandström 2016). While the use of terminals has increased in forest chip supply, comminution of forest biomass at terminals has also increased drastically having a 31% share in 2015 (Strandström 2016). In

12

2015, chipping at the roadside has the highest share in logging residue chipping (77%) and the lowest in stump wood chipping (24%) (Strandström 2016).

The level of roads, railway and waterway network connections and transport distances determine the transport mode or modes used in forest chip supply. For shorter distances, truck transport is used as the only transport method. According to Anttila et al. (2007), Karttunen et al. (2008), Laitila et al. (2010) and Iikkanen et al. (2014), if the transport distance exceeds 150 km, railways and/or shipping become competitive to chip supply by road in terms of supply costs. Long distance transport methods are justified when there is a high demand for fuel and there are not enough biomass resources available for energy use at shorter distances optimal for truck transport. Transport by railway and waterway are always linked to truck transport from feedstock to loading terminals/harbours and often truck transports.

In Finland, domestic forest biomass for energy is transported by trucks, whereas in Sweden, for example, train transport is also used, particularly when the transport distance is very long (Enström 2008, Enström & Winberg 2009). The most common combination of forest chip supply unit is a mobile chipper and two, sometimes even three chip trucks (Ranta 2002, Asikainen 2010, Laitila 2012, Eriksson et al. 2014a). Few simulation studies of supply of forest chips have considered the effect of the number of trucks in the supply unit on supply costs. In the supply of logging residue chips, depending on the truck's payload, trailer setup and the chipper's productivity, operating with chipper and two trucks has been more cost competitive in transport distances of 60–100 km, and after that a three-truck unit has had lower costs (Asikainen 1995, Zamora-Cristales et al. 2013). Respectively, in the case of transporting comminuted material of stump wood, the breakeven point in transport distance has been a bit less than for logging residue chips (40–60 km) (Asikainen 2010, Eriksson et al. 2014a). With shorter distances, the chipper has less idling time, whereas for longer distances the idling time increases. The influence of the distance on idling time is the opposite for trucks.

As with industrial wood transport by truck, the majority of truck transports (85%) of forest chips make their return trip empty (Venäläinen & Poikela 2016). The rest of transports were back-haulage, circular routes or multi-point pick up routes. The ways to increase back-hauling has had interest, once there is clear evidence of its cost-competitiveness (Venäläinen & Poikela 2016).

As a result of changes in traffic legislation in Finland (Valtioneuvoston asetus, 2013), bigger dimensions and masses of trucks were allowed for truck transports on Finnish roads starting from 1 October 2013. Compared to the earlier law allowing truck-trailer units with a maximum gross vehicle weight (GVW) of 60 tons, the new law enables trucks with 64, 68 and 76 ton GVW depending on the amount of axles in the truck-trailer unit. New maximal dimensions of truck-trailer combination are 25.25 m in length, 2.55 m in width, and 4.4 m in height. Before the law reform, 84% of chip trucks' load spaces were a maximum of 140 in frame-m³ and 60 GVW in total weight (Karttunen et al. 2012, Korpilahti 2010). A change in the truck fleet is in progress towards trucks with higher maximum total weights and larger load spaces (Venäläinen & Poikela 2016), as the changes have been seen already in timber truck sizes. Nevertheless, the question of transporting full loads of forest chips in energy content is related to the moisture of chips and the compaction of chips (Ranta & Rinne 2006, Laitila et al. 2017). The loading density ratio in solid-m3/loose-m3 has been 0.36–0.41 while comminuting logging residues to chip truck containers (Verkasalo 1988, Karttunen et al. 2008). For wetter material, the maximum allowed weight of the transport unit is reached first, whereas for the dryer material the frame volume is reached before the maximum weight. Therefore, for enhancing transport efficiency, it is really essential to have material that is sufficiently dry, good compaction of material as well as a high volume/gross weight relationship of the truck unit.

Terminals have become more common in the forest fuel supply chain, especially in countries which use a lot of forest fuels for heating and energy (Raitila & Korpinen 2016, Raitila & Virkkunen 2016). The share of terminal delivered forest fuels to heating and power plants of all forest fuel deliveries has increased steadily in Finland and Sweden and now stands at roughly 45% and 55%, respectively (Kons et al. 2014, Raitila & Virkkunen 2016). According to Kons et al. (2014), terminals under 2 ha are dominant in Sweden having three or four wood assortments in average and most often having comminution activities at the terminal (90% of cases). In Finland, terminals of a size 1-3 ha supply two thirds of the forest fuel from all terminals (Virkkunen et al. 2015).

Though terminals add costs to the supply chain due to additional phases and operations of the supply chain, this is often accepted in order to secure the supply of forest fuel to enduse points throughout the year in all conditions (Ranta et al. 2012, Ranta et al. 2014). Andersson et al. (2002), Hakkila (2004), Ranta et al. (2012), Karttunen et al. (2012), Enström et al. (2013), Karttunen et al. (2013), Kons et al. (2014), Virkkunen et al.(2015), Anerud et al. (2016), Raitila & Korpinen (2016) and Gautam et al. (2017) have stated other factors, which support the introduction of terminals to the fuel supply.

Weather changes have an effect both on energy demand and on the progress of supply operations of forest fuel (Kons et al. 2014). During the thaw seasons in particular, the accessibility of remote feedstock is limited due to the low carrying capacity of forest roads thus making the use of terminals for securing the fuel supply beneficial (Ranta et al. 2014, Gautam et al. 2017). Moreover, the need and the costs of road maintenance of secondary and tertiary roads could be reduced, if some of the forest fuel could be delivered to terminals during the time of good road connections (Anerud et al. 2016, Gautam et al. 2017). When the procurement volumes are large and transport distances long, terminals are essential for the efficient supply operations for fuel consumption facilities and where different transport modes are connected (Karttunen et al. 2012, Karttunen et al. 2013, Enström et al. 2013)

Raitila & Korpinen (2016) introduced the concept of rescaling the supply fleet; with less resources (machines, vehicles, workforce) it is possible to achieve the same desired output with a terminal than a supply chain without one. This is because terminals enable balancing the utilization of the supply fleet over the year. Increased machine utilization of the fleet has a decreasing effect on supply costs (Virkkunen et al. 2015, Anerud et al. 2016). Simultaneously year-round working opportunities raise the social factor into account; the workforce is more motivated and the work is more secure and less recruitment activities are needed (Kärhä & Peltola 2004, Väätäinen et al. 2008). Terminals can be utilized for controlling, managing and upgrading the quality of stored biomass as well as mixing different fuels and sieving the fuel material to meet the correct blend and homogeneity for combustion (Kons et al. 2014, Raitila & Korpinen 2016, Gautam et al. 2016). Synergetic aspects can be highlighted in terms of utilizing terminals for other business purposes during the low season of biomass storing (Raitila & Korpinen 2016). Moreover, terminals are inevitable to have in cases when end-use facilities with a lack of storage space are next to cities and settlements and with limitations on traffic and chipping due to noise and air pollution considerations (Wolfsmayr & Rauch 2014).

The layout of fuel reception and the fuel reception capacity at the power plant are decisive factors for efficient fuel arrivals, as well as the unloading and short lead-times of

chip trucks at the end-use facility (Väätäinen et al. 2002, Hakkila 2004, Laitila et al. 2010, Ranta et al. 2002). Fuel reception has to work efficiently especially during the period when fuel demand is at its highest, when truck arrivals can be over 100 per day for the large CHP plants (Väätäinen et al. 2002). Upgrading of existing power plants to increased heat and power production also require modifications to fuel reception: fuel receiving, weighing, handling, storing and feeding systems (Impola 2001). Fuel reception has to cope with varieties of fuels, unloading methods of trucks, intermittent and high number of truck arrivals with little disturbance to the supply chain (Impola 2001, Hakkila 2004).

1.3 Fuel quality aspects

Since the quality of the forest fuel is of great importance in energy conversion efficiency of the supplied biomass, a lot of effort has been addressed to improve the quality of forest biomass for energy (Andersson et al. 2002, Hakkila 2004, Pettersson & Nordfjell 2007, Routa et al. 2016). The characteristic most influencing quality regarding the efficiency of the whole supply chain of forest chips is moisture content (Hakkila 2004, Röser et al. 2011, Routa et al. 2016). According to Hakkila (2004), moisture has a negative impact in regard to transport efficiency and its costs, heat value of fuel, combustion efficiency, combustion emissions, dry matter losses during storage as well as handling functionality especially during the frost period in winter. The methods of enhancing fuel quality have to be taken into account when defining the supply chain and storage of harvested biomass (Röser et al. 2011) such as utilizing best natural drying seasons during spring and summer (Nurmi 1999, Nurmi & Hillebrand 2007, Pettersson & Nordfjell 2007, Erber et al. 2012), having a drying period for loose logging residues on site (Jirjis 1995, Nurmi 1999), selecting feasible locations for roadside storage (Nurmi 1999, Nordfjell & Liss 2000, Nurmi & Hillebrand 2007, Fillback et al. 2011) and for covering forest biomass piles at roadsides (Jirjis 1995, Nurmi & Hillebrand 2007, Röser et al. 2011). With the use of these methods, the drying potential can be 20-30 percent points from the initial moisture content after harvesting. For enhancing the influence of natural drving, various methods for stem treatment have been studied, such as partial debarking or scarifying of stems during harvesting (Röser et al. 2011).

Smaller heating plants require drier fuel material than larger combined heat and power plants (Hakkila 2004, Röser et al. 2011). Principally, for smaller heating plants roundwood chips from young stands are the most desired forest chips, whereas combined heat and power (CHP) plants can use logging residues from tops and branches for combustion. Bigger plants usually mix forest chips with peat, bark, sawdust or coal to control combustion. In particular, controlling the moisture content of arrived fuel at CHP plants can be done by regulating truck arrivals and by mixing fuels such as peat and forest chips (Hakkila 2004, Ranta et al. 2002). In addition to moisture, other important quality factors are heat value, energy density, share of green particles (needles), share of impurities, share of ash and particle size (Hakkila 2004, Routa et al. 2013). For example, impurities in forest biomass for energy causes additional breakdowns in chippers, causes difficulties during combustion and increases the ash content of the material (Laitila et al. 2010). This is particularly prevalent with stump fuel wood (Laitila & Nuutinen 2014). According to Holzleitner et al. (2013), reducing moisture content from 45% to 37% improves the productivity of chip trucks by 9% at a transport distance of 55 km.

A better understanding of material dissipation during storage in terms of microbial activity or spillage of material due to handling and storing (Routa et al. 2015, Routa et al.

2016) and the influence of dry matter loss on the forest chip supply efficiency (Kinnunen 2016, Sikanen 2016) has raised the importance of monitoring and controlling material losses within the supply chain of forest chips. For example, according to Kinnunen (2016), the use of a "fast-track approach" with minimized storage times for forest chips, supply costs could be decreased by 8–13% compared with conventional chip supply depending on the speed of decomposing. Benefits in supply resulted from the decreased dry matter loss. Progression of decomposing and dry matter loss (DML) are closely connected to the moisture of forest biomass, to the share of green material (composting material) and to the particle size of the stored fuel material (Jirjis 1995, Nurmi 1999, Pettersson & Nordfjell 2007).

1.4 Supply chain management and re-engineering

As a combined definition by Mentzer et al. (2001), Blanchart (2010) and Christopher (2016) a *supply chain* is a network of organizations, where organizations, people, activities, information and resources are involved in moving a product or service from supplier to customer. *Supply chain management* (SCM) is an approach, which then coordinates and manages supply chain activities to maximize customer value and gain a competitive advantage in the marketplace (Surbhi 2015, Christopher 2016). The multi-dimensional approach of SCM can be seen as a unity, which strategically manages and coordinates the flow of raw materials and works in progress (semi-finished goods) within the organization and the end product outside the organization till it reaches the hands of the final consumer with a complete emphasis on the customer requirement (Surbhi 2015).

Logistics or logistics management, on the other hand is a part of supply chain management. According to Surbhi (2015), the process of integrating the movement and maintenance of goods in and out of an organization is logistics. The main objective in the logistics management process is to provide the right product with the right quality and quantity at the right time in the right place at the right price to the end customer (Surbhi 2015, Christopher 2016). To compare, the main aim of *logistics* is full customer satisfaction, conversely, the main aim behind *SCM* is to gain a substantial competitive advantage (Surbhi 2015). Rushton et al. (2014) have categorized *supply chain* and *logistics* as follows; *Logistics* is formed by materials management and distribution, whereas *supply chain* includes suppliers and customers. According to Hugos (2003), *logistics* typically refers to activities that occur within the boundaries of a single organization and *supply chain* refers to networks of companies that work together and coordinate their actions to deliver a product to market.

To improve the supply chain and logistics in it by enhancing customer satisfaction, minimizing supply costs and reducing inventories, for example, various methods or approaches have been presented in literature and performed in research and practice. *Business Process Re-engineering (BPR)* has had success among researchers and companies since it was introduced in the early 1990s (Hammer 1990, Groznik & Maslaric 2009). In BPR, a business process is understood as a set of methods, where business processes are mapped, the flow of activities are understood and alternative sets of processes are identified and created (Grover & Malhotra 1997). BPR is based on fundamental rethinking and redesigning of business processes to achieve improvements in quality, cost, service, lead times, outcomes and innovation (Groznik & Maslaric 2009). BPR reinforces the importance of IT and its efficient use in managing redesigned business (Grover & Malhotra 1997). *Supply chain re-engineering* (SCR) is a holistic approach for company business and

its chain of suppliers and customers, taking into account improvements in materials management, manufacturing, marketing, distribution and logistics processes (Flickingen & Baker 1995, Leenders & Fearton 1997, Handfield & Nichols 1999). According to Sweeney (2000), SCR consists of analysis of the existing configuration of a supply chain, defining improvements to the existing supply chain and finally putting these improvements into practice. The third approach presented here is called *logistics (process) re-engineering,* which is basically a redesign of logistics processes such as customer order to deliver, inbound logistics, third party provider selection, facility location network design and inventory deployment (Crosby 1994).

From the perspective of the forest chip supply chain, it consists of main activities and operations like pre-procurement activities of forest biomass, harvesting of biomass at forest sites and extraction to roadsides, storing as uncomminuted, comminution and transport of forest biomass to terminals or to heating and power plants as well as fuel receiving, storing and feeding on chips to the burning process to generate heat and/or energy or the refining process to produce fuel and/or other components, for example. Forest biomass producers can be private forest owners, state, municipalities and forest industry corporations. Target customers are households, business sectors and the sector of transport and traffic. While observing the supply chain of forest chips in detail with the aid of business process mapping, high number of business processes and activities can be detected from behind the actual operations (Windisch et al. 2013, Windisch 2015).

The logistics approach is controversial when comparing forest chip supply to conventional supply and distribution of goods and products. Instead of managing, transporting and distributing products/goods from one of a few points to several end users, forest fuel needs to be collected from various points of origin to one or a few places of end use. This is similar to the supply logistics of agriproducts, such as meat, milk, grain, from individual farms to refining facilities, for example. In this respect, logistics is delineated to inbound logistics, which is the movement of goods and raw materials from suppliers to your company (Ballou 2004).

As expressed earlier, there are various options of supply chains for forest chips and within each main supply chain method several approaches with operational specialties have been used in practice. In addition, depending on the use, the scale of business, characteristics of forest biomass resources, procurement environment, level and available options of transport connections as well as characteristics of biomass utilization facilities, the number of supply chain concepts in use can be multifold.

1.5 Discrete-event simulation as a study method

1.5.1 Simulation as a part of Operations Research

Today, a great variety of analysis methods are available for studying optimal solutions to a specific problem. The discipline called Operations Research (OR) consists of various analytical methods for decision support wherein simulation belongs together with the set of other analysis methods, such as Linear Programming, Network Optimization, Dynamic Programming, Integer Programming, Nonlinear Programming, Metaheuristics, Game Theory, Queuing Theory, Decision Analysis, Markov Chains, Queuing Theory, Inventory Theory and Markov Decision Processes (Taha 2007, Lättilä 2012). By using the methods within OR, the decision maker is provided a scientific basis for solving the problems and for finding a solution which is in the best interest of the organization as a whole (Murthy

2007). The terms quantitative approach, operations research, management science, system analysis and system science have often been used interchangeably (Murthy 2007).

Simulation is OR technique often used in analysing complex systems, which cannot be presented by a mathematical model due to the stochastic nature of the system and its behaviour (Murthy 2007). The importance of simulation has increased over time due to the recent advances in simulation methodologies, technical development and increased availability of software (Murthy 2007). Today, in various fields of business, simulation has been incorporated in their everyday operations and decision making processes. Today simulation software allows improved visualizations to illustrate system behaviour efficiently and compactly. Simulation models can be used for training purposes, decision support, understanding, education and learning and entertainment (Sokolowski & Banks 2009). Simulation can be used for comparison, optimization, prediction and investigation (Rossetti 2016).

To shorten and sum up the definitions of simulation from the literature, simulation is an imitation of a real system from the nature or field of practice, or it can be a representation of virtual reality or fully theoretical system. More closely, simulation has had the following definitions over time, for example: According to Malcolm (1958), a simulation model can be defined as one which illustrates the working of a large scale system of men, machines, materials and information operating over a period of time in a simulated environment of actual real world conditions. According to Naylor et al. (1966), simulation is a numerical technique for conducting experiments on a digital computer, which involves certain types of mathematical and logical relationships necessary to describe the behaviour and structure of a complex real world system over an extended period of time. Hillier and Liebermann (1974) have stated that simulation is an "experimental arm" of Operations Research. "To simulate is to try to duplicate the features, appearance and characteristics of a real system" (Render & Stair 1992). According to Taha (1992), simulation is a model entity, which is an abstraction of a system, resulting in a theory. "Simulation refers to the application of computational models to the study and prediction of physical events or the behaviour of engineered systems" (Simulation-Based... 2006) "Simulation is a representation of reality through the use of a model or other device, which will react in the same manner as reality under a given set of conditions." (Murthy 2007). "A simulation is the imitation of the operation of a real-world process of a system over time. (Banks et al. 2010). "A simulation is only a model (representation) of the real thing" (Rossetti 2016).

1.5.2 Discrete event simulation

Discrete Event Simulation, as the name implies, models the activities or operations of a system as discrete events in time. In DES, the components of the system are modelled as objects with specific attributes (White & Ingalls 2009, Banks et al. 2010). The basic structural components in the DES model are presented in table 1 according to While & Ingalls (2009).

Component	Description
Inputs	Actions of the environment causing changes in the system
Outputs	Measured quantities derived from system state
State	Internal condition of the system
Entities/items	Dynamic elements which flow through the system
Attributes	Unique characteristics of an entity/item
Activities	Processes and logic in the simulation model, such as delays, queues and logic
Events	Conditions occurring during the simulation, causing a change in the state of the system
Resources	Elements, which have a constrained capacity, such as workers, machines, nodes etc.
Global variables	Variables containing information about the system
Random number generator	Generates randomized values to be used during the simulation
Statistics collector	Collects statistics on the conditions, values of global variables or performance data based on attributes of the entity

Table 1. Basic components in DES adopted from White & Ingalls (2009).



Figure 1. A conceptualization of a system according to Rossetti (2016).

As Rossetti (2016) states, the main purpose of a simulation model is to enable observations about a particular system to be collected as a function of time (Figure 1). According to Blanchard and Fabrycky (2011), a system is a set of interrelated components working together towards a common objective. A broader definition of a system is, "Any object which has some action to perform and is dependent on a number of objects called entities, is a system" (Singh 2009). Like all modelling environments, at the beginning of the model construction in discrete event simulation (DES) also, the content and outline of the studied system has to be defined.

Systems, system modelling and simulation can be classified into separate types depending on the nature of the system and whether or not it changes with respect to time. If the system changes with respect to time it is dynamic, otherwise it is called static. In dynamic systems, the changes of the system can take place at discrete points in time or continuously with time. DES is usually categorized as dynamic simulation including stochasticity.

Different approaches have been stated in the branch of simulation, DES being the most widely used study method within peer-reviewed articles in 1997-2006 (Jahangirian et al. 2010). Other widely used simulation approaches have been System Dynamics (SD) and

Hybrid models (combining two or more approaches in one model) Other used approaches have been Agent-Based Modelling (ABS), Monte Carlo Simulation and Intelligent simulation, for example (Jahangirian et al. 2010).

A general methodology for solving problems also follows in simulation studies as in other OR studies (Taha 2007, Murthy 2007). In principle, the structure of simulation study resembles the conventional study experimentation carried out in real life with the explicit exception that instead of making observations from reality, the simulation software makes observations of the operations of the system. Everything starts from the problem definition, which actually describes in detail the objectives of the study, the desired outputs from the model and the types of scenarios to be examined (Rossetti 2016). After formulating the study problem and setting the overall project plan with objectives of the study, the model conceptualization and construction takes place (Banks et al. 2010, Rossetti 2016) (Figure 2).



Figure 2. The structure of the simulation project (Rossetti 2016).

According to Banks et al. (2010), it is better to start with a simple model and to increase the complexity for fulfilling the study purposes and requirements. Furthermore, this approach helps the verification of the model along with the model development phase. The level of model complexity should also follow the quality of the input data and the defined objectives of the study (Banks et al. 2010, Rossetti 2016).

Comprehensive knowledge of the system and operations to be studied is essential, therefore the data used for model construction and simulations is of high importance. Moreover, the better you have assimilated the study problem, the better you can outline and define the model structure together with the required data. According to Shannon (1975), there is a continual interplay between the construction of the model and the collection of the needed input data. Data can consist of performance, capacity and other operational characteristics of elements; parameters and attributes from buffers, tracks, vehicles, machines, labour etc. For example, a mobile chipper for a forest chip supply system has special parameters such as cycle time for producing one cubic meter of forest chips, breakdown parameters, set up times before the start of chipping in a new storage location. Parameter data can be either fixed values or in the form of mathematical formulas or theoretical distributions. Today, a large volume of comprehensive data is available more and more for problem solving (Fey et al. 2008). Referring to this, simulation modelling is data-friendly, allowing the handling of a large amount of data in different forms; as variables, parameters and functions or in forms of multidimensional matrices and distributions with theoretical or empirical base (Ojala 1992). With the help of developed data collection, handling and computer science, the time effort for input data acquisition and utilization in the simulation study process has decreased. Actually, many scientific fields have become highly data-driven, thus encouraging the use of data intensive applications (Chen & Zhang 2014). In some situations, it is not possible to collect data; in these cases usually time is very limited and/or the studied system or process does not yet exist, thus encouraging the use of expert knowledge and educated guesses for the study (Banks et al. 2010).

Along with model development, model verification (building the model correctly) and validation (building the correct model) comes hand in hand and it is an iterative process (Carson 2002, Banks et al. 2010, Sargent 2011). The importance of the verification and validation of the simulation model cannot be overplayed, because decisions will be made on the basis of results derived from the simulation model (Banks et al. 2010). As Carson (2002) has stated, the model verification and validation process improves the model's credibility among decision makers. According to Sargent (2011), verification and validation procedures are conducted until sufficient accuracy and confidence in the simulation model is obtained.

Model verification comprises implementation of the correct model from conceptual model into the simulation software comprising finding and fixing modelling errors (Carson 2002, Sargent 2011). Model review by an expert, logic flow diagram presentations of model actions, inspection of input parameter specifications, conducting model documentation to verify model logic, tracing technique to compare variety of input parameter influence on model output and interactive debugger tests are techniques to verify the model (Banks et al. 2010). For example, sophisticated simulation software have inbuilt functions for model debugging to locate any errors in the simulation code itself (Rossetti 2016). To conclude, the objective of model verification is to confirm that the implementation of the model is correct.

The validation of the simulation model practically reviews the accuracy of the model's representation of the real system. Some approaches are used to validate a simulation model (e.g. Navlor & Finger 1967, Carson 2002, Banks et al. 2010, Sargent 2011). According to (Sargent 2011), validation can be divided into conceptual model validation, operational validation and data validity. If the data to be used for i) building the conceptual model, ii) validating the model and iii) performing experiments with a validated model, has shortcomings in quality and sufficiency, it has direct impacts on the validity of the model. The validity test process with three steps formulated by Naylor & Finger (1967) has been widely followed. As a first step, a face facility embodies model testing done by users and experts with a good knowledge of the real world system. Model assumption validation includes a structural assumption review about the correctness of system operations with the given assumptions and data assumption review about data accuracy, quality and reliability. In input-output transformation validation, the model's accuracy level in predicting the outcomes of various circumstances comparable to the real system will be carried out. In addition, there are a range of approaches from subjective reviews to objective statistical validity tests (Sargent 2011). In practice, during model development, comparing the model to reality must be done all the time to calibrate and correct the model (Banks et al. 2010).

1.5.3 DES method in modelling forest chip supply chain and logistics

DES has been proven to be reliable method for studying complex supply chains with multiple internal interactions (e.g. Asikainen 1995, Asikainen 2010, Banks et al. 2010, Spinelli et al. 2014). According to Talbot & Suadicani (2005) and Asikainen (2010), deterministic models of forest chip supply chains are much less realistic than proper stochastic models. The dynamic simulation model can reliably describe the behaviour of such systems as the supply of forest chips represents. As discovered in several DES studies of forest chip supply, machine or sub-system interactions can cause substantial idling times for the machines (Asikainen 1995, Asikainen 2001, Asikainen 2010, Karttunen et al. 2013, Belbo & Talbot 2014, Eriksson et al. 2014a, Eriksson et al. 2014b, Eliasson et al. 2017). According to Asikainen (2010), if using a deterministic and static study approach instead of dynamic ones as DES is in the forest chip supply chain of a chipper and chip trucks, there is a tendency to significantly overestimate system performance and underestimate waiting times and supply.

Several studies consisting of the modelling and analysis of the entire chain or sub-chain of the forest chip supply have applied the DES approach as the main study method. Asikainen (1995) introduced the DES method in the modelling and analysis of energywood harvesting and transport in his doctoral thesis, where he revealed that machine interactions that cause waiting have to be taken into account in the system analysis. The DES approach was applied later in the study of Asikainen (1998), where alternatives for crushing, loading and transport logistics for supplying forest chips from terminal to power plant were analysed. With the DES approach, Talbot & Suadicani (2005) analysed and compared two forest chip supply systems based on terrain-going chip harvesters either cooperating with a separate bin forwarder for transporting loaded bins to the roadside or chipping to the bins and forwarding them using a chip harvester at the site without an additional shuttle. In the study of Asikainen (2010), the optimal number of trucks in a supply system of stump crushing and truck transport of chips from a landing to a district heating plant with varying transportation distances was analysed by DES. Also, ZamoraCristales et al. (2013) applied DES for analysing the cost-efficiency of forest chip supply by mobile chipper and chip trucks.

Karttunen et al. (2013) introduced a combination of agent-based modelling and DES for constructing the simulation model, which was utilized for comparing the cost-efficiency of an intermodal container supply chain and a traditional multi-modal supply chain with corresponding direct truck logistics for long-distance transportation of forest chips by road and rail. Belbo & Talbot (2014) compared the supply of small trees from landing to plant or terminal by varying the transportation of biomass as loose, as chipped and as baled. Spinelli et al. (2014) studied the cost-efficiency and fuel economy of forest chip supply systems in mountain conditions as a function of transport distance and number of trucks.

Eriksson (2016) compiled his doctoral thesis by analysing forest fuel supply chains in four separate articles by having DES as the main study method. In Eriksson et al. (2014a), the comparison of stump fuel supply was conducted from roadsides to heat and energy generation by varying the comminution method, timing of comminution and number of trucks in scenarios. In contrast to the previous study, the whole supply chain including harvesting and forwarding of stumps from the sites were modelled in the Eriksson et al. (2014b) study, where fuel quality and site characteristics, for example, were taken as the main focus in the scenario analysis. In the study of Eliasson et al. (2017), analysis of forest chip supply included an option to forward filled chip containers from a landing to a reloading point where they could be loaded onto container trucks. The DES modelling took the work scheduling approach into account. A holistic DES model for forest chip supply was conducted by Eriksson et al. (2017), where quality changes of forest fuel material during storage were included into the model as a weather-driven method.

1.6 Structure of the thesis

This thesis investigates supply chain efficiency of forest chip supply chains having different objectives and fuel supply cases in each article. All articles in the thesis are focused on practical situations in supply chains of forest biomass and exploring alternative system setups to find economically, environmentally or socially better solutions. The first article concentrates on finding an efficient setup for fuel reception at the CHP plant in order to enhance the supply of peat and a variety of woody biomass by truck. In the second article, the aim was to quantify the benefits on the efficiency of forest chip supply chain of utilizing accurate biomass storage characteristics in the selection of storage locations and fuel allocation in time. The third article investigated the efficient use of terminals as a part of conventional direct forest chip supply. As an alternative long distance transport option, waterway transport logistics in Lake Saimaa waterways was studied to magnify the cost-competitiveness of barge transport logistic alternatives for forest chips compared to road transports.

The supply chain reengineering approach has been used in the thesis with narrowed focus, where logistics and inventory, material handling and fuel delivery as well as the customer's desideratum have been in consideration. Business processes in the sense of human to human, human to IT, IT to human interactions and processes have been neglected, whereas the focus has been on events and time consumption occurring in material storage, flow and handling, i.e. operations and actions related to material flow in the supply chain have been under study. In addition, the influence of the quality changes of forest chips has been taken into consideration in articles II and III. The fuel property

requirements of the customer, here meaning the end-use facility, has been introduced as in energy content of the forest chips delivered to the plant.

The studied supply chains were all based on logistics of comminuted forest biomass next to roadsides or at terminals before the main transport either by chip truck or a combination of barge and chip truck (Figure 3). All supply chains were "hot chains", where idling times occur due to machine-to-machine interactions, i.e. one has to wait for the other to finish the task. With the exception of article IV, the transport mode of solid fuel is road transport with container truck-trailer units. Article IV covered waterway transport of forest chips by barge.



Figure 3. Framework of the thesis. Articles are expressed by system definition with the main operations expressed. The supply chain re-engineering approach with the discrete-event simulation study method has been used for analysing the holistic efficiency of forest chip supply.

Studied supply chains do not cover the whole supply chain of forest chips, instead, depending on the article, the focus is on either the analysis of operational efficiency of the sub-system or the sequence of sub-systems and therein efficient logistics. The trading actions of forest chip purchase between owner and buyer has been neglected. Also, harvesting and extractions of uncomminuted forest fuel is not included in any analysis in the articles. Lastly, the monitor of material flow through the supply chain is the prerequisite of incorporated analysis related to operational efficiency, supply costs, fuel quality, timing of deliveries and social and environmental aspects (Figure 4).



Figure 4. Schematic chart presenting the aspects and its indicators which have been included in articles.

1.7 Objectives of the thesis

The overall aim of the thesis was to design efficient supply chain setups in the selected supply environments by enhancing overall supply system performance, decreasing supply costs and improving working opportunities by taking the fuel properties through the supply chain into account. Moreover, special attention was paid to the selection and allocation process of forest chips and terminal use as part of fuel supply to the end-use facility.

The specific objectives were to:

- 1) Evaluate the influence of truck arrival procedures and fuel reception set ups at the combined heat and power (CHP) plant to improve the efficiency of fuel supply to heat and energy generation. (Article I)
- Quantify the impact of raw material selection based on fuel characteristics at roadside storage locations on the efficiency of forest chip supply logistics. (Article II)
- 3) Analyse the differences in supply costs and performance indicators between direct forest chip supply and terminal based chip supply. (Article III)
- 4) Evaluate the influence of terminal specific characteristics and quality changes of forest chips in terminal based forest chip supply. (Article III)
- 5) Evaluate the cost efficient logistic set ups in waterway transport of forest chips by barge on Lake Saimaa. (Article IV)

2. MATERIAL AND METHODS

The scenario analysis of forest chips supply chains with machine interdependencies and stochasticity included called for simulation as a study method. In all articles, discrete-event simulation has been used to study the problems. In each article, areal fuel supply system or sub-system has been modelled to the simulation environment with predefined system boundaries and model simplifications. Witness simulation software (Witness 1996, Lanner 2017) was used for building the models and examining the defined scenarios. Separate simulation models were designed for each study in each article. Due to the models' stochasticity and system sensitivity in varying conditions and machine interdependencies, each determined scenario was simulated several times to reach the desired confidence interval of decision variables, thus improving the comparability of studied scenarios.

Most of the data required for the development of the model and the models' parameter input values were acquired from the available information of the real system. In addition, machine characteristics of conventional forest chip supply chains were obtained from the literature, whereas the waterway supply chain was demonstrated and time studied to derive the required data for parametrization of the system. In the following chapters, material and methods are described briefly for each article separately.

2.1. Re-engineering the fuel reception at the CHP-power plant (Article I)

2.1.1 Description of the case study

The base model scenario was made to describe the initial situation of the truck arrivals and functions of the fuel receiving station at the Kuopio power plant during the winter of 2000. The simulations of alternative logistic solutions were compared to the base scenario. The simulation study focused on the winter period, which is the period when energy production is at its highest and the bottlenecks of the operation at the receiving station were easier to detect. The main result parameter was the queuing time, which was automatically registered by the model. Additionally, the model calculated the degrees of utilization of the delivery bays.

2.1.2 Material for the study

Initial data for the simulation models was derived from the plant's fuel receiving station's database, which was collected during the year 2000 by an automatic data collection system. The data included truck arrival times to the weighing station, starting and ending times of unloading and departure times from the weighing station. The data also included information regarding unloading technique, fuel suppliers, supplied fuel, the fuel's calorific value, volume and mass of the load. In the data of one year, the number of truck arrivals was 13,479 and the total delivered fuel mass was approximately 500,000 tons. The total annual number of rear end unloading (presented as RU) truck arrivals was 10,832 and side tipper unloading (presented as ST) trucks 2,647. There were 30 trucks delivering the fuel.

2.1.3 Modelling the system environment of the case

Basic elements for the simulation model were 30 fuel trucks, one fuel-loading bay, roads from/to loading place to/from fuel receiving station, weighing station, roads from/to

weighing station to/from DP1 and DP2, and two delivery (unloading) bays (delivery bay 1 = DP1 and delivery bay 2 = DP2) and their fuel hoppers.

In the base scenario, the timing of truck departures from the fuel stores was done so that trucks arrived at the power station in a manner resembling the arrivals in the current situation. For other scenarios, changes to the base model were made in the truck controlling unit, in guiding rules of trucks after weighing and in the speed of fuel flow from delivery bay 1's hopper to combustion.

The parameters of the simulated week correspond to an average week, which was built up from the winter season data (October – April). Moreover, three different truck arrival sets (wintertime, coldest month and coldest week) were used in the simulation experiments. Truck type as RU or ST, fuel supplier, fuel type, fuel quality and load amount of 110 loose- m^3 were determined for each departing truck. The number of departing trucks for every hour was estimated by a theoretical Poisson distribution and the expectation values, λ (trucks per hour) were taken from the analysed database in the base model. The procedure of the actions of trucks and fuel reception station as well as the model input parameters in simulations are presented more detailed in Väätäinen et al. (2006).

2.1.4 Study scenarios

Four main scenario set ups with a varying set of sub-scenarios were conducted. In scenario A, the target was to detect the influence of upgrading options at fuel reception on the queuing times of fuel trucks and utilization levels of unloading stations. In scenario B, predefined time-schedules for truck arrivals were simulated to reveal its impact on morning arrivals and queuing times of trucks. The effects of a cold winter season were examined in scenario C and the effect of the increased use of forest chips to replace the use of peat on queuing times was examined in scenario D.

2.2 Smart biomass storage allocation for enhanced forest chip supply (Article II)

2.2.1 Description of the case study

The case study was based on the operations of a forest entrepreneur supplying forest chips from roadside storage locations of logging residues to a large-scale CHP plant providing heat and power to the city of Joensuu, located in the region of North Karelia (Figure 5). A new approach was designed for information-based decision making in the allocation process using the criteria transportation distance, moisture content and storage volume with the aim of increasing the efficiency of the chipping and transport of forest chips during peak periods in particular. The effects on the productivity and cost-efficiency of a supply chain from roadside storage to plant were investigated.

2.2.2 Material for the study

For defining and validating the model structure, expert interviews were held with four entrepreneurs engaged in forest biomass supply in the study area. The questions at the interviews were related to the characteristics of forest biomass supply operations, such as size of operating area, pile sizes, transport distances, fleet size, work shifts and shift arrangements. The storage data used in the simulations was derived from a larger data set of the timber logging operations provided by a forest enterprise operating in North Karelia. The data set from the year 2008 to 2012 involved spatial coordinates, logging date, seasonal accessibility, unique identification number and the volume in terms of solid m³ for every storage location. The theoretical occurrence of logging residues in volume from spruce (Picea abies) final fellings was calculated by a biomass expansion factor of 0.44 and the volume of extractable logging residues was then estimated by converting the available amount with the value of 0.70 (Laitila 2008). The final data set consisted of 328 separate storage locations with a total volume of 57,166 solid m³.

The drying curves by Sikanen et al. (2013) were used to estimate the moisture content of the storage locations for every month of the year. The storage locations were then grouped into spatial clusters so that driving distances between the locations remained short. From this data pool the supply chain was assigned clusters of storage locations according to criteria described further.

2.2.3 Modelling the system environment of the case

The simulation model was build based on current knowledge of the behaviour and structure of the forest biomass supply system. The model consisted of one truck-mounted mobile chipper and two truck-trailer combinations and involved detailed machine interactions, setup and breakdown parameters as well as productivity, driving speed, loading/unloading, load capacity and working shift parameters presented in Windisch et al. (2015).

The maximum transport distance to the plant was 110 km. The contractor's business premises were located in the city of Ilomantsi, 65 km from the power plant (Figure 5). The operations of the supply chain were simulated over a period of one year divided into four supply periods according to the variation of demand of the CHP plant in different seasons; Peak period-high demand (Peak): December to February, Interim period 1 –medium demand (Interim1): from March to May, Summer-low demand (Summer): from June to August, Interim period 2-medium demand (Interim2): from September to November.



Figure 5. Map of the entrepreneur's operational area. The dots are the individual storage locations. The square denotes the location of the entrepreneur's business premises, the circle the location of the plant he supplies. The distances to the plant shown in the legend refer to driving distances on public roads.

The model used the driving distances from the contractor's business premises to each storage locations and from each storage locations to the plant determined by an analysis with ESRI ArcGIS for Desktop version 10.0. The loading capacity of the trucks was limited either by the load volume or the load mass. A dry matter density of 445 kg/solid m³ was used, which is the average of the dry matter densities of spruce logging residues with and without needles according to Hakkila (1978).

2.2.4 Study scenarios

A total of seven scenarios were defined for the simulations (Table 2). The informationbased raw material allocation process was named *precision supply* (PS) which was divided to five scenarios. Three criteria were defined: average transportation distance to the plant, average volume per storage and average estimated seasonal moisture content. PS scenarios 2 and 5 had combination criteria with different weightings in each index (Table 2). Criteria are presented in more detail in Windisch et al. (2015).

				Weighting		
Scenarios	Description	Spatial clusters in use	Abbreviation	Td	Vol	Mc
1	Business as usual	Yes	BAU	-	-	-
2	Precision supply 1	Yes	TdMcVol	0.33	0.33	0.33
3	Precision supply 2	Yes	Td	1	0	0
4	Precision supply 3	Yes	Vol	0	1	0
5	Precision supply 4	Yes	Mc	0	0	1
6	Precision supply 5	Yes	TdMc	0.5	0.5	0
7	Random supply	No	RAND	-	-	-

Table 2. Overview of the scenarios investigated by discrete-event simulation (Td = transportation distance, Vol = volume, Mc = moisture content).

In the seventh scenario, storage locations were processed randomly. In all scenarios, logging residues stayed on the cutovers for one month during the drying season. Each scenario was simulated with seven repetitions, each using different random number streams.

For calculating the costs of chipping, the key figures were effective machine work hours (E_0h) , driving time, other work time and annual production in terms of solid m³ and MWh. Costing parameters were given by the Finnish Machine Contractor Association. The key figures for the cost calculation for the chip truck were average transport distance per truck load, average time consumption per truck load, average number of truck loads per day and average amount of MWh and solid m³ per truck load. The values of the costing parameters corresponded to the average price levels of the year 2013 and the key factors of machine cost calculations are presented in Windisch et al. (2015).

2.3 Efficient use of feed-in terminal as a part of forest chip supply (Article III)

2.3.1 Description of the case study

The aim of the study was to compare the costs of the conventional direct forest chip supply to an alternative fuel supply with the use of a feed-in terminal using discrete-event simulation method. A combined heat and power plant (CHP plant) using 517GWh of forest chips supplied by four supply chains within a 100 km operation radius was selected as a case environment for the study. The forest chip supply environment was defined to begin from the roadside storage locations of forest biomass and to end at the power plant. A feed-in terminal for the storing and supplying of forest chips was introduced into conventional direct forest chip supply as a balancing and securing option for the fuel supply to the CHP plant.

2.3.2 Material for the study

The sizes of the roadside storage locations of logging residues corresponded to the real situation of spruce-dominated final fellings located in North Karelia, Eastern Finland. Unlike in Windisch et al. (2015), the data and the parameters of logging residue storage locations were defined by theoretical distributions.

The monthly demand for the forest chips used in simulations was derived from the local CHP plant in the city of Joensuu and corresponded to the typical fuel demand of an average year (Figure 6). Moisture in the forest chips from roadside storage locations was determined by the theoretical distribution following the moisture data of fuel received by a large scale CHP plant. Monthly mean values for the moisture in forest chips were derived from Hakkila (2004) (Figure 6).



Figure 6. Monthly mean moisture content of received forest chips and monthly forest fuel demand of the CHP plant in the simulation in GWh.

2.3.3 Modelling the system environment of the case

The simulation model consisted of four forest chip suppliers operating with one truckmounted chipper and two chip trucks. The fuel suppliers operated with a one-shift weekly working schedule having Sundays off from work. The material for the chipping was logging residues (tops and branches) from spruce-dominated final felling. The dry net calorific value of forest chips was 19.2 MJ/kg (Alakangas et al. 2016) and the dry matter weight of forest chips was 445 kg/solid-m³ (Hakkila 1985). In addition to the monthly demand variation, the daily demand had a variation determined by the truncated normal distribution varying \pm 20% from the monthly mean demand. Storage size of forest chips at fuel reception was set to 6,000 MWh.

The chip trucks in use were conventional container-based truck and trailer units with seven axles allowing a vehicle of a maximum of 64 tons providing 50 solid-m³ of load capacity (130 m³ frame volume of containers). A shuttle truck with a total weight of 76 tons and 60 solid-m³ of load capacity (160 m³ frame volume of containers) was used in the terminal scenario, where outbound terminal transports were carried out with a higher capacity truck and trailer unit. The mobile chipper was a truck-mounted drum chipper typically used in chipping at roadside storage locations. The machine interactions, the distribution parameters of breakdown, set-up, loading/unloading and productivity as well as of speed functions, shift schedules, the actions of the fleet and other fixed parameters are presented in more detail in Väätäinen et al. (2017).

The supply of forest chips from spruce dominated logging residue roadside storage locations was distance oriented i.e. the higher the fuel demand of power plant was, the closer storage locations and shorter distances were stressed on the selection of roadside storage locations. Average transport distance was 60–64km depending on the study scenario. Inbound and outbound terminal transports were controlled by the defined alarm levels of the power plant's buffer size. If the supply of forest chips by the contractors did not meet the demand of the power plant, a supplement fuel was introduced to fill the missing part of energy demand.

The size of the feed-in terminal was not pre-determined, thus the terminal area was defined after simulations. Consequently, the area was 4.7 ha having a 50 GWh capacity of forest chips. One operator managed terminal activities and had the responsibility of establishing the heaps of chips, loading trucks and maintaining the terminal area. Other cost parameters for defining the investment cost of terminal, following the values used in Virkkunen et al.'s (2015) study, are introduced in Väätäinen et al. (2017).

2.3.4 Study scenarios

Four main simulation scenarios were examined. At first, conventional direct fuel supply (Scenarios 1A1 and 1A2) was compared to terminal aided fuel supply (Scenarios 1B and 1C). Both the supply of contractors' own chip trucks and a separate shuttle truck to conduct outbound terminal transports were compared. In addition, the location of feed-in terminal, dry matter loss of terminal stored material as well as moisture changes of terminal stored chips were examined (Table 3). The studied scenarios are explained in more detail in Väätäinen et al. (2017).

For each scenario simulation, seven replications with varying seed numbers for determining unique random number streams were applied. In addition to the terminal scenario runs, sensitivity analyses for the operating hours of the shuttle truck and the investment level of the terminal were investigated. The main cost parameters accounting for the mobile chipper, the chip truck and the shuttle truck were presented in Väätäinen et al. (2017). To specify, supply costs in this study included chipping, truck transports and terminal costs (investment and operations).

Main scenario	Abbreviation	Terminal in use	Definitions	Equals to
1: Business as usual (BAU) vs. terminal	1A1	no	BAU - one shift; 2+2 months off-shift at summer	
	1A2	no	BAU - 1 to 2 shifts; 2+2 months off-shift at summer	
	1B	yes	Suppliers' chip trucks used for terminal transports	
	1C	yes	Separate shuttle truck for terminal transports	
2: Terminal location	2B1	yes	terminal 5 km from CHP-plant, Suppliers' trucks	1B
	2B2	yes	terminal 10 km from CHP-plant, Suppliers' trucks	
	2B3	yes	terminal 20 km from CHP-plant, Suppliers' trucks	
	2B4	yes	terminal 30 km from CHP-plant, Suppliers' trucks	
	2C1	yes	terminal 5 km from CHP-plant, Shuttle truck	1C
	2C2	yes	terminal 10 km from CHP-plant, Shuttle truck	
	2C3	yes	terminal 20 km from CHP-plant, Shuttle truck	
	2C4	yes	terminal 30 km from CHP-plant, Shuttle truck	
3: Dry matter loss (DML)	3C1	yes	Moisture and DML equal with BAU	
	3C2	yes	Moisture equal, DML 1 pp higher than BAU	1C
	3C3	yes	Moisture equal, DML 2 pp higher than BAU	
4: Moisture change	4C1	yes	Moisture 3 pp lower, DML 1 pp higher than BAU	
	4C2	yes	Moisture 3 pp higher, DML 1 pp higher than BAU	
	4C3	yes	Moisture 6 pp higher, DML 1 pp higher than BAU	
	4C4	yes	Moisture 6 pp higher, DML 2 pp higher than BAU	
	4C5	yes	Moisture 10 pp higher, DML 2 pp higher than BAU	

Table 3. Simulation scenarios used in the study. (pp = percentage point)

2.4 Efficient logistics for waterway transports of forest chips (Article IV)

2.4.1 Description of the case study

Barge transportation as a long distance transport method for forest chips was investigated as a substitutive method for truck transports. Logistic efficiency of waterway transports of forest chips was studied in Lake Saimaa waterways in Eastern Finland (Figure 7). The varying demand for forest chips in three separate biopower plants on the Saimaa lakeside near the cities of Varkaus, Mikkeli, and Savonlinna was addressed in several barge transportation scenarios. Scenario comparisons were analysed by discrete-event simulation with Witness simulation software.

2.4.2 Material for the study

The waterways and the distances of the waterways used in simulations were conducted from the Finnish Transport Agency. Research data for the simulations were collected by the demonstrations conducted in the project called Inland Waterway Transport of Forest Fuels (2006-2008). A few options were tested in demonstrations of transporting forest chips and small trees via inland waterways. During the demonstrations, time studies for the waterway supply chain including the phases of loading and unloading of forest chips were performed (Karttunen et al. 2012). Information on the waterway transport fleet was collected from watercraft manufacturers and from shipping contractors operating in the Lake Saimaa region. Corresponding information for fuel terminal operations at harbours was collected by interviews and from the literature.



Figure 7. Waterways of the Lake Saimaa region. Loading harbours for forest chips presented as dots and biopower plants receiving forest chips transported by waterways presented as squares.

2.4.3 Modelling the system environment of the case

The simulation environment consisted of shipping routes from fuel terminals at harbours to end-use facilities next to cities, and vice versa, at the Lake Saimaa waters (Figure 7). Furthermore, the model included both the fleet of barges and powered vessels and the fleet of harbours' loading and unloading machines in the system environment. The transported material was forest chips having an item entity of one green ton. Transportation logistics and interactions before the fuel terminal in the loading phase and after the unloading phase were excluded from the simulation environment.

Three end-use facilities were chosen for the study located in the cities of Varkaus, Mikkeli, and Savonlinna. Three fuel terminals were strategically chosen to meet the fuel demand for the waterway-based supply system from the surrounding areas with good biomass reserves. Distances between loading and unloading terminals ranged from 102 to 338 km. The demand estimate for forest fuels at end-use facilities was based on the needs predicted for 2015 (Karttunen et al. 2008).

In the model, forest fuel transport via waterways followed the consumption of end-use facilities; the distribution of fuel was Savonlinna 10%, Mikkeli 30% and Varkaus 60%. In the simulation, vessels transported forest chips one way only, without return hauling other material, such as roundwood.

Small and large-sized tugboats were used in the simulation scenarios. In addition, two types and three sizes of barges were used in the simulation with the mean pay load varying from 500 tons to 1,800 tons. The frame volume of the barge was the limiting factor, not the pay load in mass. The barges and their loading capacities are described in more detail in Karttunen et al. (2012). The speeds of the shipping units changed in function of shipping route characteristics, vessel and barge type, as well as total barge weight. The speed function was formulated from the data collected from the demonstrations of forest chip waterway transportation.

Two methods were used for loading and unloading operations at fuel terminals. At the biggest inland harbours, efficient long-boomed material handling machines were used. An alternative method involved a wheeled loader and a belt conveyor for loose materials. The latter method was not dependent on the work shifts of the harbour system, thus the machines could be operated by the vessels' crew during harbours' off-shift time.

The operation time per year was set to nine months, excluding the winter months (January–March) in which most waterways in the Lake Saimaa region are closed because of the ice cover. During the active shipping season, waterway supply of forest chips ran day and night all week, 24 hours per day. The small tugboat had a two man crew, and the big tugboat five. In harbour operations, the crew onshore at harbours worked in shifts from 7am to 11pm on weekdays (off-shift at weekends).

2.4.4 Study scenarios

Two main scenarios, with respect to the size of the vessel in use, were set up in the simulation study. The main scenarios were divided into three sub-scenario lines: i) load size, ii) transport barge logistics, and iii) harbour logistics.

The scenario line of "load size" contained three load size alternatives for each vessel. The sub-scenario line of transport logistics included three experiments: fixed-barge, interchangeable-barge, and fixed with two barges. In the first of these, one barge was attached to the tugboat at all times and there was only one barge in the system. The experiment of "interchangeable-barge transport logistics" included seven barges; one for each harbour and one for the tugboat. In every simulation run, there was always one loaded or unloaded barge to replace the one arriving at the harbour. The experiment "fixed with two barges" included two barges attached at all times to the tugboat.

The harbour logistics scenario line included three experiments: shift-dependent, shiftdependent in unloading, and shift-independent. In the shift-dependent experiment, loading and unloading were dependent on harbour's work shifts, in which long-boomed material handling machines were used in loading and unloading. With the "shift-dependent in unloading" -experiment, loading was carried out by a wheeled loader and a belt conveyor operated by the vessel's crew while unloading was dependent on harbour's work shifts (using a material handling machine). Shift-independent work meant that both the loading and unloading were independent of the harbour's work shifts and were carried out by a wheeled loader and belt conveyor operated by the crew.

With the use of stochasticity in the model, the results of each experiment replication were different. The results of each experiment were announced as in average of five replications. The randomized occurrences in the model were the speed correction of the vessel–barge combination, loading and unloading events, and determination of the load size of the barge for each load.

3. RESULTS

3.1 Re-engineering the fuel reception at the CHP-power plant (Article I)

3.1.1 Truck control at the receiving station

Acceleration of the hopper's fuel flow at DB1 had only a minor effect on queuing times and practically no change on the use of delivery bays was detected (Figure 8). When the main fuel supplier's RU trucks were directed to the shorter queue i.e. having the truck controlling system on, the queuing times decreased considerably (experiments A2A-A2C). The fuel flow speed of 110m³/hour at DB1 was not fast enough to enable shorter queuing times, when the truck controlling was on. In this situation, many trucks had to wait for hopper 1 to be empty, before they could unload. While comparing the scenarios of A1A and A2C, both the directing of the RU trucks to the shortest queue and the increment of fuel flow speed of DB1's hopper increased the utilization rate of DB1 from 14.9% to 25.3%. Compared to the base scenario (A1A), increasing the speed of fuel flow of hopper 1 from 110m³/h to 200m³/h and the use of truck control diminished average truck queuing time from 19.9 minutes to 5.8 minutes.

3.1.2 The effect of scheduling the truck arrivals

In experiments B1A-B1D, the queuing varied significantly (Figure 9). Time-schedule option 1, where two trucks were set to arrive every hour, decreased the average queuing time by 45% compared to the basic situation. Concerning queuing, the best alternative among B scenarios was B2C, where the trucks were set to arrive uniformly with truck controlling at the plant and with time-schedule 1. On the other hand, in the experiments B2A-B2D queuing times were very short and also the degree of utilization of DB1 almost doubled compared to experiments B1A-B1D. In the experiments of scenario C with the high fuel use at the plant, time-scheduling of truck arrivals had a drastic impact on queuing. Compared to truck arrivals received from practice (scenario C1A), average queuing time dropped down from 18.5 min to 2.5 min if time-scheduling option 3 was in use (scenario C1E).


Figure 8. Average queuing times of fuel trucks at the receiving station and its delivery bay in simulation scenario A (Increasing the use of DB1). Values in parentheses are DB1 hopper's fuel flow speeds.



Figure 9. Average queuing times of fuel trucks at the receiving station and its delivery bays, when scenario B (time-scheduling of arriving trucks) was used in simulations.

3.1.3 Improved fuel flow in plant's delivery bay 1

When the use of fuel was high in the power plant, more trucks were queuing at the receiving station even if truck controlling was applied (Figure 10). Increase of the fuel flow at DB1's hopper from 146m³/h to 200m³/h would shorten the queuing remarkably. An additional increase to 300m³/h did not greatly affect queuing times. At peak truck arrivals (72 trucks/day), the current maximum fuel flow speed (146m³/h) with truck controlling at the station resulted in an average queuing time of 65.5 minutes per truck. Increasing the hopper's fuel flow speed to 200m³/h diminished queuing time to 19.5 minutes/truck.



Figure 10. Average queuing times of fuel trucks at the receiving station and its delivery bays, when scenario C with 57 and 72 truck arrivals per day was used in simulations. Values in parentheses are DB1 hopper's fuel flow speeds.



Figure 11. Average queuing times of fuel trucks at the receiving station and its delivery bays, when scenario D (increased use of forest chips) was used in simulations. Values in parentheses are the proportions of forest chips of total fuel use.

3.1.4 Increased use of forest chips

The transported volume increases, if peat is replaced by forest chips. Replacing 10 % of the peat with forest chips increases the transport volume and truck arrivals by 1.3 %. However, in the simulations the change in queuing time and degree of utilization of both delivery bays compared to the current situation was insignificant (figure 11). If 50 % of the fuel is forest chips, fuel transportation increases by 6.3 % and queuing times increase by 3.5 minutes per truck compared to the base situation. Implementing truck controls at the fuel receiving station has a greater effect on queuing than the increased use of forest chips.

3.2 Smart biomass storage allocation for enhanced forest chip supply (Article II)

3.2.1 Impact of the control of forest fuel storage parameters on fuel supply efficiency

The energy density of the logging residues varied over the year and differed notably among the scenarios (Figure 12). BAU and RAND showed the strongest variance and exceeded the PS scenarios in the Summer period, while the energy density of the material supplied during the Peak period was low.

The comparison of the annual energy content delivered to plant (Figure 13) proved that all PS scenarios outperformed the BAU approach. TdMcVol, Td and TdMc showed the largest increase in total energy output per annum (7%, 8% and 7%) (Figure 13). During the Peak period the benefit of the PS approach was evident. The increase amounted to 23%, 27% and 29%. Compared to BAU, these scenarios increased the energy output of the supply chain also during the Interim2 period (13%, 10% and 10%). The increase in Peak and Interim2 periods led to a decrease of supplied energy content in the other periods because then material from lower ranking storage locations had to be processed and delivered.



Figure 12. Monthly average energy density of the biomass delivered to the plant in different scenarios.



Figure 13. Deliveries to the plant per year and supply periods (Peak: January, February, December; Interim1: March to May; Summer: June to August; Interim2: September to November) for different scenarios. Abbreviations are used as described in Table 3.



Figure 14. Productivity of the chipper and chip truck in MWh/MW H (machine work hour). The graphs shows the difference between business-as-usual and the individual precision supply scenarios in percent for the different supply periods (Peak: January, February, December; Interim1: March to May; Summer: June to August; Interim2: September to November). Abbreviations are used as described in Table 2.

In the investigated case, the PS approach led to slightly more machine work hours (MWH) compared to BAU due to the flexible shift arrangements, which was used in practice. Again, the PS scenarios improved the productivity during Peak and Interim2 period, while in Summer and Interim1 period productivity decreased due to low ranking clusters. With the precise allocation processes of PS scenarios, the productivities of the chipper and chip truck were clearly higher during Peak and Interim2 periods, whereas productivities dropped down from BAU during Summer and Interim2 (Figure 14).



Figure 15. Supply costs per MWh. Abbreviations are used as described in Table 2.

The cost comparison demonstrated that all PS scenarios decreased the supply costs of the year compared to BAU (Figure 15). The Vol scenario lowered the costs only by 1%. However, the TdMc and the Td scenarios lowered the supply costs by 6% and 7%, respectively.

3.3 Efficient use of feed-in terminal as a part of forest chip supply (Article III)

3.3.1 The performance and supply costs of studied scenarios

While operating in one shift within the BAU-scenario, four supply operators with four chippers and 8 chip trucks in total were not enough to meet the power plant's annual demand (Figure 16). From total fuel demand, 19.3% was supplement fuel used in addition to the base supply of forest chips. The external work shift during the high season was required to meet the demand (scenario 1A2). Both terminal scenarios operated with one work shift, the forest chip supply was merely enough to satisfy the demand of the power plant; the use of supplement fuel was 6.3% and 3.4% from the total demand in terminal scenarios 1B and 1C, respectively. The share of fuel delivery via the terminal was 18.0% and 17.6% in scenarios 1B and 1C, respectively.



Figure 16. The annual supply of forest chips and the use of supplement fuel to meet the initial forest chip demand of the CHP plant in the four simulation scenarios. (HM = holiday month)



Figure 17. Annual fuel supply costs of the power plant in four simulation scenarios. Terminal costs include investment and operational costs of the terminal.

While comparing annual supply costs, the least costly scenario was 1A2, with an extra shift during the high season resulting in 7.1% lower supply costs compared to the BAU scenario (1A2) while an assumption of a EUR 8/MWh supplement fuel cost was used (Figure 17). From the terminal scenarios, the cheapest option with the lowest supply cost was 1C, with separate terminal shuttle use having a 1.4% higher annual supply cost than the BAU scenario 1A1. Respectively, terminal scenario 1B had a 3.1% higher supply cost. The share of terminal costs of total supply costs was 4.7% and 4.8% in terminal scenarios 1B and 1C, respectively, whereas the separated costs of outbound terminal transports (terminal to power plant) were 2.3% and 1.5%, respectively.



Figure 18. Weekly level statistics for the forest chip demand and transports during one year. The compared scenarios were 1A1, 1A2, 1B and 1C

3.3.2 Analysis of terminal use over the year

Only the scenario 1A2 was able to follow the power plant's fuel demand over the year, whereas the BAU scenario 1A1 could not meet the demand during the highest demand starting in January (Figure 18). In both terminal scenarios, 1B and 1C, all four fuel

suppliers were operating during the summer, being able both to fulfil the plant's fuel demand and to supply the fuel to the terminal (Figure 18). In total, the transported forest chip amount at the terminal was 92,950 MWh (45,876 solid-m³) and 90,978 MWh (45,146 solid-m³) in scenarios 1B and 1C, respectively.

3.3.3 The impact of distance, fuel quality, terminal investment and utilization of shuttle truck on supply costs

While analysing the effect of pre-defined factors of terminal-based fuel supply costs, the baseline was set to scenario 1C, where a separate shuttle truck was operating outbound terminal transports (Table 4). To keep supply costs competitive, it is crucial that the terminal is close enough to the power plant and there are other transport possibilities for the shuttle truck at other times than the chip transports from the terminal (Figure 19).

Moreover, the management of the quality of forest chips in terminal storage has a clear impact on total supply costs. The decrease of terminal investment cost by 30% resulted in a 0.9% decrease in the costs of terminal-based fuel supply.

Table 4. The terminal scenarios, in which outbound termina	I transports were carried out by a
shuttle truck, in comparison to scenario 1C.	

Terminal scenario - option	Abbreviation	Definition
1C	Baseline	Terminal scenario with shuttle truck, 5 km distance from PP, terminal investment 1,372,500 €, other use for the shuttle 1,500 h, total shuttle use 2,433 h, DML 1 percent point higher than in RS storages, Average moist of forest chips approx. 43% in terminal
2C2	Dist. 5km->10km	Equal to 1C exept distance to PP 10 km
2C4	Dist. 5km->30km	Equal to 1C exept distance to PP 30 km
1C - lower investment cost	Invt -30%	Equal to 1C exept terminal investment cost 30% lower than in 1C
1C - higher investment cost	Invt +30%	Equal to 1C exept terminal investment cost 30% higher than in 1C
1C - Shuttle use 1,683 h	Other use 750h, 5km dist.	Equal to 1C exept other use of shuttle is decreased to 750 h
1C - Shuttle use 933 h	Other use 0h, 5km dist.	Equal to 1C exept other use of shuttle is decreased to 0 h
2C4 - Shuttle use 2,282 h	Other use 750h, 30km dist.	Equal to 1C exept distance to PP 30 km and other use of shuttle decreased to 750 h
2C4 - Shuttle use 1,532 h	Other use 0h, 30km dist.	Equal to 1C exept distance to PP 30 km and other use of shuttle decreased to 0 h
3C1	DML-1pp	Equal to 1C exept DML of forest chips 1 percent point lower
3C3	DML+1pp	Equal to 1C exept DML of forest chips 1 percent point higher
4C1	MC - 3pp	Equal to 1C exept MC of forest chips 3 percent point lower
4C3	MC +6pp	Equal to 1C exept MC of forest chips 6 percent point higher
4C4	MC +6 pp & DML +1pp	Equal to 1C exept MC of forest chips 6 percent point and DML 1 percent point higher



Figure 19. Differences in supply costs when comparing other terminal options to the terminal scenario 1C (see Table 4 for the definitions).

3.4 Efficient logistics for waterway transports of forest chips (Article IV)

3.4.1 Best logistics concept in waterway supply options

The most cost efficient waterway transport option was a small tugboat with 1,200 ton capacity barge and shift independency in harbour operations (Figure 20). A bigger vessel with larger transport capacity of forest chips resulted in higher costs, though with better productivity than that of the smaller one. In particular, the share of the idle time and therefore idle-time costs were relatively high compared to the smaller tugboat. Shift independency while operating in harbours was beneficial in terms of increasing productive time and decreasing supply costs; compared to harbour shift dependency, the decrease in costs was 15–17% in comparable supply options.



Figure 20. Waterway transport costs in simulation scenarios of a smaller and bigger tugboat with variation in barge size and harbour shift option. Costs correspond to 178.5km of waterway distance. (Shift dep. = Harbour shift dependent, Shift indep. = Harbour shift independent)



Figure 21. Waterway transport costs in simulation scenarios of a smaller and bigger tugboat with fixed and interchangeable barge options. In the presented scenarios, waterway supply of forest chips was dependent on harbours' working shifts. Costs correspond to 178.5km of waterway distance.

The interchangeable barge option was expected to be a feasible method in cases when loading and unloading was executed within harbours' working shifts. The impact of having interchangeable barges in waterway transport and the cost difference compared to fixed barge was dependent on the system of tugboat and barge (Figure 21). If a big tugboat and 1,200 tons barge system were in use, the interchangeable barge option was more cost effective than the fixed barge system (-16%). In the case of a smaller tugboat, the difference was in the opposite direction (+14%). The compared difference in waterway supply costs between fixed and interchangeable barge methods was the result of both on the transported amount of forest chips with barges and the share of idle time and its cost on waterway

transports. In interchangeable barge logistics, there is no need to wait for loading or unloading of barge. Filled or empty barges are always ready to be transported, thus decreasing idle time and the cost of vessels.

Depending on the scenario, waterway transport costs increased 50–130% when distance was increased from 100 km to 300 km (Figure 22). Small barge loads and interchangeable barge option were most sensitive for the increase of transport distance. The big tugboat with a 2,400 ton barge load resulted in the smallest impact on the increase of transport distance. Another benefit for bigger transport units was the capability to transport more forest chips during one waterway season (Figure 23). Especially in the scenario where interchangeable barge logistics were used, the annual performance was over 250,000 tons, which was 63% more than the scenario of second best annual performance with the same barge load (compared to the 1,200 ton barge with harbour shift independent).



Figure 22. Impact of waterway transport distance on forest chip transport costs by waterways (costs include harbour operations; loading and unloading). All presented scenarios are harbour shift dependent in loading and unloading.



Figure 23. Annual transport performance with alternative scenarios for the small and big tugboat options. Scenarios of interchangeable barges are harbour shift dependent (Shift dep. = Harbour shift dependent, Shift indep. = Harbour shift independent).

3.4.2 Waterway supply vs. supply by roads

While comparing waterway supply and road transport supply of forest chips, road transport supply was more cost competitive up to 100–150km depending on the scenarios being compared (Figure 24). Supply by road is much more sensitive to transport distance; supply costs of forest chips increase 50% from 50km to 250km for the road transport method, whereas for the waterway transport method the cost increase was only 13% for the respective distances. In addition to road transport, the road transport supply chain cost included stumpage price (EUR 3.50/MWh) and roadside chipping (EUR 3.50/MWh), roadside chipping (EUR 3.50/MWh), 30km truck transport to harbour (EUR 2.20/MWh) and piling and storing (EUR 0.30/MWh) in addition to waterway transport.



Figure 24. Cost comparison between road supply and best waterway supply chain options of forest chips.

4. DISCUSSION

4.1 Assessment of the research

Presented outcomes of the thesis provide new information on the cost factors and their impact levels on forest chip supply from roadside storage to end-use facility in the case specific approach. Moreover, the thesis suggests restructuring and updating of supply chain to improve the forest chip supply by enhancing cost-efficiency, capacity utilization of machinery and workforce, environmental efficiency and heat value management of forest chips. All study cases were based either on the real forest chip supply environments or demonstrated fuel supply by the case specific transport method. However, results can be generalized to some extent to other forest chip supply environments while having a similar structure of the supply chain as in cases studied in articles.

As suggested by the literature (e.g. Asikainen 1995, Asikainen 2001, Asikainen 2010, Karttunen et al. 2013, Belbo and Talbot 2014, Eriksson et al. 2014a, Eriksson et al. 2014b, Eliasson et al. 2017), DES was found to fit well in the modelling of selected forest chips supply chain including "hot chain" features and the specific characteristics of the supply environment with high heterogeneity of feedstock properties as an example. All articles (I–IV) incorporated machine or sub-system interactions with the tendency of increased idle time of machines and vehicles during the imbalance of system components. To use deterministic system analysis in articles II–IV would have resulted in simplifications in the system structures and would have led to overestimations in system productivity and underestimations of production costs. The study approach compiled to the study in article I required either simulation or Queuing theory.

Simulation studies have been conducted by modelling the prevailing supply system and working environment with the prevailing supply fleet technology. For example, in article I, data for model structuring was collected in 2000 and for article III in 2015. Moreover, supply costs of forest chips have been calculated using the latest cost factor values obtained at a time when studies were ongoing (II–IV). Scenario comparisons carried out by the same study parameters are still valid; however, technology development, changes in traffic legislation etc. have resulted in improved system performance in the supply of forest chips. For example, in October 2013 a new law for increasing GVW and heights of trucks was passed in Finland (Valtioneuvoston asetus... 2013). Moreover, special permits for 5 year periods granted by Trafi enable freight forwarders to operate with high capacity trucks (HCT) of up to 104 tons total mass on predetermined routes (Venäläinen & Korpilahti 2015). Therefore, especially in article IV, the comparison of long distance chip supply costs between barge transports by waterway and truck transports by road with 60 tons total mass has limited validity, with road transport being able to offer more cost-competitive results today.

Simulation models were designed to follow closely the real operations of a forest chip supply. For model building and simulation experimentation, follow up and monitoring data from the real-world and from the case environments were preferred. Most of the time, the consumption formulas of machines and operations used in simulation models were selected by the best suitability or availability related to the model purpose. However, some of the data was based on short time studies as it was in article IV. For example, productivity functions of material handling machines were compiled from such studies. Moreover, some parameters of sub-systems were acquired as estimates from the personnel operating them. However, this is a common practice in the data acquisition for the construction of simulation models. The reliability and representativeness of the input data and models has to be taken into account in the interpretation of the final results.

System modelling in articles (I–IV) excluded phases and operations from the beginning of the supply chain of forest chips, such as the purchase, harvesting and forwarding of biomass. However, all studies were based on the forest chip supply approach, where chipping was made at the roadside. This approach segregates fuel extraction from forest site to roadside landing from the chipping and transport with a justified argument: a long storage time at the roadside is preferred and thus, hot chain linkages do not exist between harvesting and chipping. However, other supply cost factors can be added afterwards to costs presented in articles II and III to have a total supply cost. Moreover, the selected approach helped to focus each study better to the objectives. Some studies of forest chip supply conducted by DES have taken the whole supply chain into account (Asikainen 1995, Belbo and Talbot 2014, Eriksson et al. 2014b, Eliasson et al. 2017). Moreover, numerous static modelling of forest chip supply from the forest stand to end-use facility has been made (e.g. Laitila et al. 2010, Laitila & Väätäinen 2012, Laitila et al. 2017).

The required number of replications for each scenario was determined by pre-running simulation models in order to reach the desired confidence interval (CI) of decision variables. For example, in articles III and IV, in each scenario the share of CI of the supply cost was less than 1%, which confirmed that the differences between scenarios' decision variables were statistically significant. The results of each scenario simulation were mostly presented by the mean value of replications' results without presenting a standard deviation (SD) or a CI. However, presenting the CI-values of the decision variables together with the average values would have enabled the statistical interpretation of the comparisons between the scenario results. Typically, SD and CI are most often used in presenting the variation of replications and expressing the deviation wherein the forthcoming replication would appear with a given confidence level.

Except in article I, all studies included the fuel supply for one supply period, i.e. one year. To have a comprehensive work follow up of supply fleet operations over the year, work shift approach is essential to include in the model; this approach was used in articles II–IV. In practice, work shift set ups of operating personnel and opening hours of power plants, terminals and harbours have to be taken into account in planning and timing of efficient operations in the supply chain as a whole. For example in articles II and III, chipping and trucking were adjusted to work shifts of supply personnel with specific activities included to beginning and ending phases of work shifts. Recently, a few other studies related to the modelling and analyses of the supply chain of forest chips have included the work shift approach in the model (e.g. Eliasson et al. 2017, Eriksson et al. 2017).

Based on the results of studies I–IV, the alternatives to improve the holistic efficiency of the supply chain of forest chips has been discussed in more detail from the following perspectives, which were stated in the Introduction: 1) material arrival to fuel reception and timing aspects, 2) operational efficiency and monetary aspects, 3) fuel quality aspects and feedstock allocation, and 4) social and environmental aspects.

4.2 Material arrival to fuel reception and timing aspects

In big CHP plants, truck arrivals per day can rise up to 100 units during the high heating season (Väätäinen et al. 2002). An even higher number can be noticed for timber truck

arrivals to large biorefineries and pulp mills (Namidi 2015), not to mention truck arrivals at international ports and marine container terminals (Chen et al. 2013).

As noted in Article I, the scheduling of truck arrivals by truck appointment systems has been found to be very effective way to reduce queuing and waiting times in several other studies (Korpilahti 1987, Morais & Lord 2006, Huynh & Hutson 2005, Huynh & Walton 2008). However, truck scheduling is easier to generate for trucks which are operating with more fixed operation times, i.e. cycle times are more or less constant and thus more predictable. Respectively, forest chip transports from roadsides are difficult or impossible to schedule due to the large variation in load cycle times during operations. For example, truck transports from biomass terminals close to end-use facilities or large peat production areas allow better truck arrival control to end-use facilities. As a result, truck arrivals can be estimated much more precisely enabling more precise scheduling (Väätäinen et al. 2002). Scheduling becomes even more challenging while certain fuel types, such as peat and forest chips, have to arrive by turns to control the fuel quality and enable efficient combustion, as it has been the case in many CHP plants (Impola 2001, Hakkila 2004). To ensure operation efficiency and avoiding unnecessary idling of transport operators, truck scheduling should take into account starting and ending times of drivers' work shifts, shift changing times, changeover locations, compulsory rest periods and breaks and the number of weekly shifts for each truck and each driver (Goel 2012, Namidi 2015). However, during the highest fuel demand periods and morning stressed truck arrivals, scheduling of trucks is reasonable also for bigger CHP plants (Ranta et al. 2002).

Usually the size of the fleet, i.e. the number of trucks, is defined by the highest transport demand and its requirements for the fleet size. In some cases, the costs of fuel supply, including improvement costs in fuel reception, would be decreased by the shortened waiting times of trucks and increased work opportunities for truck operators. For example, Namidi (2015) found in his study that investing in a second truck dumper for the chip reception at a pulp mill would reduce truck waiting time penalties and transportation delay penalties by an average of 77% and 59%, respectively. By including the costs of a second dumper into account, the final result showed that the total transportation costs and penalties with two dumpers and 31 trucks was 31% better than the total transportation cost and penalty with one dumper and 36 trucks. In Namidi's (2015) study case, the number of trucks could be reduced by 14% from the initial stage operating in normal conditions operating with two dumpers instead of one. Therefore, introducing high capacity fuel reception with short lead-times of trucks could improve logistic efficiency not only in the plant's fuel reception but also in fuel transports (e.g. Ranta et al. 2002, Hakkila 2004, Laitila et al. 2010, Namidi 2015).

In facilities with power and heat generation, the capacity of fuel reception station can be clearly underutilized during low heating seasons. However, fuel reception facilities and equipment account only for a minor part of the total investment of the heat and power plant. According to Nojonen & Järvinen (1996), the share of fuel reception facility's total investment was estimated to be 5–15% of the total investment of heat and energy plants. Reconstructing and updating the current system of reception stations can often be more difficult and expensive to carry out compared to constructing a new one from scratch. However, as article I shows, notable improvement in fuel receiving system. By directing rear-end unloading trucks to the delivery bay with the shortest queue and increasing the fuel flow at delivery bay 1 to the storage silo, the average waiting time of trucks dropped down from 20 min to 6 min during the winter season (Article I). The

approach balanced capacity utilization of delivery bays. In addition to efficient fuel reception, also fuel feeding devices and conveyors from unloading hoppers to combustion have to operate smoothly in order to ensure and secure the reliable fuel flow from fuel reception to combustion. This calls for a predetermined quality for the fuel, particularly for the forest chips (Hakkila 2004).

As in article I, in article III most of the queuing time at the end-use facility was accumulated during the first hours of the working shift of forest chip suppliers. That was partly due to the trucks, which were filled up at the very end of the previous work shift and in the beginning of the shift, during a small time window, arrived at the fuel reception of the power plant. In article III's simulation model, half of the suppliers' truck drivers started work shift one hour later than the other half to shorten the idling at the power plant. Correspondingly, Eliasson et al. (2017) noted that staggered shift scheduling of chip trucks with a one hour interval significantly decreased queuing time for the trucks on the landing compared to simultaneous shift scheduling. Adaptive shift scheduling of working personnel operating machines with different productivities in a production unit or with higher affinity for queuing tend to improve the productivity of a system and decrease idling times (e.g. Väätäinen et al. 2008, Väätäinen et al. 2010, Eliasson et al. 2017).

However, differences in work shift scheduling and restricted opening hours of subsystems in a supply chain can cause inefficiency in the system. Article IV revealed the issue in barge transports of forest chips, where harbours' closing hours stopped the operation of vessel units with 24h/day working mode. The vessel unit stays idle until the next day if the vessel cannot be loaded or unloaded during opening hours. This quickly escalates transport costs as Spaven et al. (2006), Karttunen et al. (2008) and Enström (2016a) have also stated. In waterway transports, a separate loading/unloading option operated by vessel crew during off-shift time of harbour or interchangeable barges (Article IV) was offered as a solution for mismatched work shifts of sub-systems. Similar challenges in shift arrangements of trucks and reception times of the end-use facility can be recognized in fuel supplies to heat and energy generation especially during high heating seasons (Väätäinen et al. 2002) and in timber transports to end-use facilities (Väätäinen et al. 2016).

4.3 Operational efficiency and monetary aspects

In article II and III, the high share of chipper relocations (13–20%) and waiting of chip trucks to arrive (25–39%) resulted in a low share of chipping (35–42%) during the average working day. A high share of relocation time was due to the relocations between roadside storage locations and between parking place and roadside storage at the beginning and end of the work shift. Mainly because of relatively long distances between feedstock and CHP plant and high chipping efficiency, these were not favourable for the chipper and two chip truck system and caused a high share of waiting time for the chipper. To compare the share of comminution time on the operating time with mobile chippers, earlier studies (Spinelli & Wisser 2009, Holzleitner et al. 2013, Eliasson et al. 2012, Asikainen 1995, Eriksson et al. 2014a, Laitila et al. 2010 and Metsäalan... 2013) have presented higher rates for chipping by mobile chippers. Spinelli & Wisser (2009) found 73.8% chipping rate in the studied forest chip supply system, whereas Holzleitner et al. resulted 49% in their study in Austria. In conclusion, in the literature and articles II and III, the differences in rate levels of chipping and waiting times of mobile chippers are explained by the difference in operating environment, transport distances, performance levels of machines and the operation model used in each of supply chain. Moreover, some of the aforementioned studies did not take the whole working cycle into account, thus neglecting the time needed for relocations.

The number of trucks serving one mobile chipper was not considered in articles II and III. In several simulation studies, the system of three trucks with one chipper has been the most cost-efficient in longer distances over 60–90 km in earlier studies (Asikainen 1995, Zamora-Cristales et al. 2013, Eriksson et al. 2014a). In practice, the average transport distance for energy wood during years of 2014–2016 has been 47 km in Finland (Tilastokeskus 2015, 2016 and 2017). Thus, most of the energy wood feedstock transported to end-use has been located within 60 km from the end-use-facilities. According to statistics, the average transport distance has increased from 40 km to 64 km from 2015 to 2016 (Tilastokeskus 2016 and 2017). In Article III, the average transport distance varied 61–64 km within scenarios. In practice, the supply area is usually large, for example 2–120 km, with feedstock located at various distances from the end-use facility, resulting more in the idling of chip trucks than the chipper at short distances and vice versa for long distances. In practice in the supply of forest chips, one chipper and two chip trucks is the most common set-up and easy to manage in Nordic conditions.

According to terminal-based studies, depending on the supplied material, supply environment, technology of the used supply fleet, the scale of supply and the cost parameters, terminal-based supply has resulted either in lower supply costs or higher than conventional direct supply. Earlier studies related to forest chip supply via terminals have been mainly focused on large scale terminals with stationary machinery (Karttunen et al. 2013, Virkkunen et al. 2016, Virkkunen & Raitila 2016). Virkkunen & Raitila (2016) compared to the direct forest chip supply to the terminal supply chain with five different options where the processing capacity of the feed-in terminal was 400 GWh per year. The cost-efficiency comparison was done for delimbed small diameter stem material either chipped at roadside storage locations or chipped at the terminal. All terminal options having electric grinders in use at terminal were more cost-competitive than direct supply chain (Virkkunen & Raitila 2016). The general conclusion was that terminal-based forest chip supply can be more cost-competitive than direct supply only if the terminal is large enough to pay off investments in the infrastructure and machines and if electricity powered chippers/grinders are used in the terminal. Furthermore, Virkkunen et al. (2016) found in their cost analysis study of a satellite terminal for forest fuels that the annually supplied wood fuel volume should be over 2.52 PJ to meet the break-event volume point of terminal machines corresponding to a minimum of 5 ha of terminal area.

A recent study into incorporating a terminal into the biomass supply for a biorefinery was executed by a mixed-integer programming model, which took into consideration biomass quality, seasonality and weather related supply restrictions (Gautam et al. 2017). The procurement cost of biomass was reduced 11–32% with terminal use compared to direct transport. The resulting cost savings of terminal scenarios were mainly due to the reduction of road maintenance costs and the improvement of fuel quality of terminal stored biomass. Contrary to article III, dry matter losses were not taken into account in calculations by Gautam et al. (2017). Laitila et al. (2017) found that the terminal-based supply of delimbed stem wood chips was slightly more expensive compared to direct supply from roadside storage locations. In the terminal scenario, inbound transports were executed as uncomminuted and chipping was carried out before transport to the end-use facility. It is worth noting that direct transport of delimbed stems and chipping at the end-use facility was EUR 1.20–3.20/MWh cheaper than other supply scenarios, when transporting stems with a 76 ton timber truck (Laitila et al. 2017).

As opposed to article III, road maintenance costs were taken into account in the Gautam et al. (2017) study, where they compared direct biomass transports to terminal aided biomass supply to the end-use facility. Gautam et al. (2017) estimated a road management cost factor for direct transports due to the fact that the supply chain is exposed to traffic on roads with trafficability problems. Particularly in heat and freeze-thaw cycles when temperature was fluctuating around zero in Celsius during winter and when demand was high, the direct supply was forced to procure biomass from the forest incurring road maintenance costs. Cost savings in total supply by reduction of road maintenance in terminal supply was over 10% compared to direct supply, wherein Gautam et al. (2017) assumed that 0.5km of the road needed to be upgraded for each cut block that required maintenance.

Longer distances from terminal to end-use facility increases costs of outbound terminal transports, whereas inbound terminal supply can become less expensive due to better location of the terminal related to the feedstock location and better balancing of a "hot chain" system. Article III took into account only one terminal, whose location with increased distance benefitted half of the chip suppliers and reduced the cost-efficiency for the other half. What if instead of one big terminal, two or even more smaller terminals would have been established in locations favourable for chip suppliers to supply forest chips to these terminals? Chip suppliers' own terminals with matched locations adjusted to their supply areas would improve the balance of the chip supply system conducted by mobile chipper and chip trucks and enhance machine utilization also during low demand for forest chips. On the other hand, machine utilization of terminal machinery in bigger terminals becomes higher than in smaller terminals thus decreasing terminal-based costs in total supply (Virkkunen et al. 2016, Virkkunen & Raitila 2016). As Ballou (2004) has stated, terminals as material storage locations can lead to lower transportation costs through the shipment of larger, more economical quantities. Today in Finland, outbound terminal transports could be carried out by trucks with higher payloads than the most used 64-68 tons chip trucks. For example, Laitila et al (2017) calculated supply costs with a 76 ton chip truck with up to 63 solid-m³ of payload operating from terminal to end-use facility. With a special permit from Trafi, a 100 ton HCT-chip truck-trailer unit is operating in Finland, thus allowing still higher transport efficiency potential in the terminal-based supply of forest chips (Metsäteho 2017).

Cost-efficient operation models for transporting forest chips and roundwood vesselbarge units via inland waterways have been studied in Saimaa and Vuoksi waterways in Finland (Asikainen 2001, Karttunen et al. 2008, Hiltunen 2010, Sorsa 2013). As in the results of article IV, the studies of Asikainen (2001), Hiltunen (2010) and Sorsa (2013) show that interchangeable barge logistics was more cost efficient than fixed barge logistics when comparing options in same barge size. For example, Sorsa (2013) concluded that interchangeable barge logistics with a separate pusher boat was most the cost-efficient option together with a self-propelled barge option. The benefit of a self-propelled barge to pusher boat-barge system was a 10-20% higher navigating speed and time saving while passing the narrow channels with short sluices. Respectively, interchangeable barge system was more productive than a fixed barge due to the availability of barges ready for transport at loading and unloading harbours. However in article IV, the most cost efficient options were vessel units with fixed barges, which operated independently regardless of on-shifts of harbours' material handling. Those options required separate "low cost" loading and unloading machinery that could be operated by the vessel's crew at any time of the day (Karttunen et al. 2008).

In article IV, each scenario had a big difference in annual performance during 8 months of operation. The difference was over four fold when comparing annual performance of the smaller tugboat-barge unit to bigger one. Therefore, for operating a full season with the option of highest production, the required amount of forest chips transported from roadsides to harbours with limited buffer size can eventually become a problem in long distance multimodal supply. As Spaven et al. (2006) have stated, increasing vessel size can bring greater economies of scale in shipping costs alone, but simultaneously it may increase other costs by peaking of road transport, storage and handling of material at each end of transit. In some cases, bigger vessels with fixed barges do not fit so well to the opening hours of ports, because of longer loading and unloading times (Spaven et al. 2006, Enström 2016a). Interchangeable barges can solve this problem and, moreover, utilize the load space of the barge as a buffer at the harbour. Moreover, interchangeable barge logistics could enable the unloading of some of the chip trucks directly to the barges, thus decreasing the need of buffer space at harbour and eliminating additional loading phases from the harbour buffer to barge (Spaven et al. 2006). One has to keep in mind that the return time for one vesselbarge unit takes often 2-4 days (Sorsa 2013) and if locations where to operate from/to are many, vessel-barge unit returns to the same harbour more seldom. Fewer transport locations and/or more vessel units increase the importance of logistics arrangements in harbours' inbound and outbound transports of forest chips as well as importance of harbour logistics itself.

4.4 Fuel quality aspects and feedstock allocation

In article III, the quality deterioration of forest biomass during storage was expected to be higher than if it was stored as in uncomminuted form. According to the literature, several factors are against storage of forest chips for longer periods. Andersson (2008) has reported that the chipping process releases soluble sugar from the wood causing a favourable environment for microbes together with heat, moisture and oxygen. Comminution by chipping produces chip particles with increased surface area increasing the speed of decay (Thörnqvist 1983). In heaps, the air movement is also more limited because of the smaller material preventing heat dissipation and causing heat accumulation, thus increasing degradation and dry matter losses (Andersson et al. 2002, Raitila et al. 2014). Moreover, heating increases a risk of spontaneous combustion (Jirjis 1995, Hakkila et al. 1998). In big heaps, the material is more compacted reducing the air flow thus resulting in poorer drying conditions, which further amplifies the abovementioned factors. Microbial activity can also make the wood fuel difficult to handle because of the high presence of allergenic spores with increased risk of health hazards (Jirjis 2005, Anheller 2009).

However, if terminal storing of forest chips are conducted, storing of chips should not be for long periods, chip material should not be too moist, chip particles should not be too small and chips should be free from green particles (Jirjis 2005, Raitila et al. 2014, Enström 2016b). Moreover, covering forest chip piles with a semi-permeable cloth or using a separate storage shelter can protect against remoistening and decreases dry matter losses compared to uncovered piles (Raitila et al. 2014, Anerud et al. 2016). On the other hand, it has been reported that covering the piles increases microbiological activity significantly in forest chip storage (Nurmi 1990, Jirjis 1995, Hofmann et al. 2017), causing dry matter losses.

Nevertheless, dry matter losses during storage are expected to turn out in both ways, both for uncomminuted and comminuted material of harvesting residues. According to earlier studies of harvesting residue chip material, DML % per month has varied 0.75-3% (Thörnqvist 1983, Thörnqvist & Jirjis 1990, Anerud et al. 2016, Raitila & Sikanen 2016), while 0.5–3% DML has been reported for in piles of uncomminuted logging residues (Jirjis & Lehtikangas 1993, Nurmi 1999, Jirjis & Norden 2005, Pettersson & Nordfjell, 2007, Routa et al. 2015). Nonetheless, in article III the increased DML % of stored logging residue chips was taken into account to the terminal scenarios to observe the influence of DML rate on the supply costs. Despite the fact that DML per month has been somewhat similar in earlier studies as presented above for comminuted and uncomminuted material of logging residue, terminal scenarios in article III had 1–2 percentage points higher DML for terminal stored chips than for logging residues stored at roadsides. However, in the main scenario comparisons, moisture content was expected to stay the same as when it arrived to terminal.

On the contrary, Gautam et al. (2017) assumed opposite that the biomass delivered and stored in terminal would have a 4-11% lower moisture content after storing than direct supply had. With this assumption, the cost reduction was clear for terminal-based biomass supply compared to direct supply in terms of enhanced transport efficiency and better energy content of supplied material. In addition, if taking the possible pile covering costs at roadsides into account, the cost savings are also towards terminal-based supply. Pile coverage is not necessarily needed, if freshly established roadside storage locations are selected to be transported to terminal during or right after the best drying season. On the other hand, covering should be accomplished, if chipping of RS storage locations would be executed during the high heating season. However, in article III, some additional costs for terminal activities were not taken into account, such as covering of chip piles or other activities which would improve or maintain fuel quality. Without covering the heaps of forest chips, rewetting will occur according to the studies of Thörnqvist & Jirjis (1990) and Raitila et al (2014). Article III, included a sensitivity analysis of terminal scenario with 6 and 10 percent point (pp) higher moistures, in which a 6 pp increase of terminal stored chips had only a 0.5% increase in supply costs. Correspondingly, one pp increase in DML of terminal stored forest chips increased 1.1% of supply costs.

According to the results of article II, "Precision" feedstock allocation by utilizing more data from the feedstock properties improves the economy of forest chip supply and allows meeting better the demand of the end-use facility. The improvement in cost-efficiency was relatively big with even a 6–7% decrease in annual supply costs compared to the BAU scenario, while taking moisture content of fuel storage locations and transport distances into account in storage allocation. Correspondingly, the influence was more remarkable while considering only the supply periods. When preferring short distances and low moisture content of RS storage locations in feedstock allocation during the peak season, the productivity of supply system as delivered MWh was increased up to 29% compared to BAU. Respectively, the productivity was in opposite direction during low seasons (Int 1 and Summer); up to 25% less than in BAU.

Eriksson et al. (2017) made a similar conclusion of their simulation study proving the impact of moisture content and transport distance on delivering higher quality and more energy in winter than in summer. To conclude, according to article II and the study of Eriksson et al. (2017), fuel transports could be more efficient especially during the highest heating season by allocating roadside storage locations in terms of moisture and distance to plant, i.e. emphasizing low MC and short transport distance in high heating period, respectively. Furthermore, the procedure of season stressed RS storage allocation by distance enables more feasible work arrangements for the operators of supply fleet of forest

chips and moreover, follows better the fuel demand variation of energy and heat generation over the year. The presented procedure was in use also in article III. In addition, proper selection and sequencing of sites to be processed by the shortest distance improves the performance of forest biomass supply systems, as Väätäinen et al. (2008) has found. Shorter driving between sites of RS storage locations not only saves time and money in relocation of the fleet itself but ensures more time for efficient operation per work shift (Väätäinen et al. 2008).

4.5 Social and environmental aspects

Solutions to tackle seasonal variation of fuel demand in heat and energy generation have been somewhat limited in fuel supply. Traditionally, the fuel supply fleet and personnel have to adapt to variations in fuel demand. In practice, during the low demand of forest chips, part of the supply fleet is not operating at all and the fleet which is operating can have time to idle periods without fuel deliveries to the end-use facilities, as it was modelled in the study of article III. Generally, the low heating season with low machine utilization and temporary lay-offs of drivers causes problems for the business of forest chip supply entrepreneurs. Further on, this causes difficulties in driver engagement to work and recruitment of skilful drivers, which have been stated as some of the biggest problems in truck transportation of forest biomass (Nousiainen 2012, Taipalus 2013, Väätäinen et al. 2014). Supplemental operation during times of high over-capacity of fleet and personnel is highly recommended.

Balancing the seasonal fluctuation was stated as one of the most significant factors in developing the forest biomass transports (Väätäinen et al. 2014) and clearly the most significant factor in improving the efficiency of logging operations (Kaipainen 2017). As discovered in papers II and III, the potential to balance the operations during the year can be markedly improved by using alternative operation models instead of conventional direct forest chip supply model. In article II, more precise selection of roadside storages according to the distance to plant and the moisture of material could offer possibilities to even out the work time and to increase the chipper utilization during the year. On the other hand, it could decrease the demand of part time contractors operating in winter.

Alternatively, as resulted in article III, the combination of terminal based supply and more precise selection of road side storages by distance confirmed that supply operations from RS storages to plant and terminal can efficiently balance the operations year round. During the low heating seasons, most of the inbound terminal transports of forest biomass could be carried out from far distances to keep the capacity of supply fleet running, whereas during the high heating season, direct transports to end-use facility could be stressed to roadside storage locations with close distances. To fill the gap from the direct fuel supply and fuel demand, supplemental fuel is transported from terminals by big trucks with high payloads. With the following operations model which was exploited in the simulations of article III, terminal operations would also run through the year without causing higher fluctuations.

In addition, an approach of combined energy and industrial wood terminal could bring cost-efficiency and year-round working opportunities, once energy wood and industrial wood have terminal activities at different times (Venäläinen et al. 2017). Moreover, the capacity utilization of terminal area is much higher and stays more stable than using it for only one purpose (either for energy wood or industrial wood purposes).

In long distance transports, HCT options are justified not only in terms of productivity and economy, but also the environment and traffic safety (Blanquart et al. 2016). Transports by waterway, particularly inland waterways, are limited to areas where waterway routes exist. Respectively, railways are spread usually wider and offer big potential in long distance biomass transports by inlands. In the case-study of Ghazanfari (2008), while comparing CO₂-emissions in Finland between forest chip supply chains of direct transport by truck and terminal-based transports by truck, train or vessel-barge options, the least CO_2 emissions were produced by the waterway supply option with the vessel-barge unit. In comparison by CO2/m3km-unit, vessel-barge supply had 16% and diesel-powered train 9% less than direct truck transport, whereas terminal-based supply by trucks had 15% more CO₂-emissions. Sorsa (2014) made a theoretical comparison of emissions in roundwood transports between vessel-barge, train and truck from Nurmes to Joutseno in Finland. Less CO₂ emissions had combinations of diesel-electric railway connections at 42% less than truck transport, whereas vessel-barge units had 25% less CO₂ emissions than truck transport. It is worth noting that in waterway transport, NO_x and SO₂ emissions were 2-fold and 10-fold higher than road transports by timber truck. Calculations were made with timber trucks of 60 tons total weight and vessel-barge units with old engine technology, thus with the new HCT trucks and new vessel technology CO_2 emissions would have been approximately one third smaller with both options.

4.6 Conclusions

With the results of the articles, the following main conclusions can be made to enhance the supply chain performance of forest chips from roadside storage locations to end-use facilities:

- Rearrangements in fuel reception station's set-up and logistics of fuel trucks reception at the power plant as well as adaptive shift scheduling of trucks play an important role in the smooth and efficient transport of fuel from the feedstock to power plant. Simulation results suggested notable decrease in waiting times of fuel trucks at the power plant's fuel reception.
- 2) The study on forest chip supply from roadside storage locations highly encourages using storage information for smart material allocation to achieve higher energy output with lower supply costs especially during the highest fuel demand. The supply of forest fuel should focus on short distances and the driest material of storage locations during high heating season and vice versa during low seasons.
- 3) By introducing a feed-in terminal for forest chips supply, cost compensation for additional terminal driven costs can be gained through the higher annual use of a fuel supply fleet and more secured fuel supply to power plants by decreasing the need for supplement fuel, which can be more expensive at a time of highest fuel demand. Moreover, terminal aided forest chip supply facilitates smoother working throughout the year in chipping and transporting of forest chips, thus offering more stable working opportunities than a conventional direct supply of forest chips.

4) Inland waterway areas with existing waterway infrastructure and close connections to biomass resources and end-use facilities can offer a cost-competitive and supplemental method for long distance transports of forest chips. Reshaping the conventional fleet used for waterway transports and restructuring the logistics of waterway transports together with harbour operations can improve the cost-competitiveness of the transport method. Drawbacks are the limited waterway season of northern inland waterways such as the Saimaa waters and the need for high amount of storage and handling of material through the fuel supply chain.

4.7 Review and research notes for the future

In Finland, the forest chip consumption for heat and energy generation has slightly dropped after many years of increased consumption. To make forest chips a more competitive fuel, alternatives for improving the cost-efficiency in forest chips supply need to be researched effectively. Reasons for the latest drop and demand fluctuations in forest chips between the years have been based on continuous and short term changes in energy policies, regulations, prices of competing fuels, emission trading and lowered fuel demand for heat rather than on the availability of forest biomass. On the contrary, in Finland, technical availability of small sized stem wood and logging residues has been good and will even increase in the future due to increasing forest biomass resources. Forest industry has been investing new or boosting the production capacity of existing biorefineries and many investment plans are on the move.

According to expert opinions, today and in the near future, logging residues and small sized stem wood will be favoured for generating heat and energy from forest biomass. The Finnish Climate Change Panel released recently a report by experts on the impacts of forest utilization on climate change (Seppälä et al. 2017), where it was stated uniformly that replacing fossil fuels by forest biomass results positively on climate in the long term. Furthermore, benefits for the climate can be achieved in the short term, if forest biomass for heat and energy would focus on logging residues and small diameter stems instead of industrial sized stem wood and stump wood. Logging residues and small sized wood decompose and release CO_2 quicker than larger sized wood. Therefore, instead of leaving logging residues at the sites after final felling, they should be utilized for heat and energy purposes at a local level without causing any more CO_2 emissions than leaving them at the site to decompose. Thus, this also provides positive impacts on regional economy and employment.

One has to acknowledge that drastic changes in demand of forest chips between years cause difficulties for the business of fuel supply entrepreneurs. Expensive machinery and committed workforce requires decent utilization of machines and working opportunities throughout the year to keep the business running and profitable. As a consequence of heavy demand fluctuation of forest chips between years, increased uncertainty of entrepreneurs restrains willingness to invest in their fleets or even willingness to continue the business. Thus, it is important to search alternative business methods such as proactive business, networking and alternative operations models for profitable entrepreneurship in the supply of forest biomass to end-use facilities within a heavily fluctuating operational environment.

As highlighted earlier, the share of chipper's chipping production of the total time use is rather low in a forest chips supply system based on roadside comminution. To decrease the excessive time use for relocations, set-ups and waiting, storages for comminution should be bigger than they are currently at roadsides. Thus, dispersed terminals around the supply area or bigger RS storages with material from several harvesting sites could offer an option to increase daily production of the supply unit of mobile chipper and chip trucks. If terminals and combined storages were located next to roads with decent trafficability, fuel deliveries to heat and power plants could be better secured and bigger chip trucks with high load capacity could be used. The following research questions for the future can be raised up: What is the impact on the supply chain performance and cost when the parameters of the roadside storages change in terms of storage size, fuel type, moisture level and location, for example? What is the influence of different sizes of trucks and productivities of mobile chippers on supply performance? How do different operations models affect the supply cost and performance?

One has to find alternative methods and solutions for forest chip deliveries especially during periods when roads are in poor condition. The initial principle of terminals is to store the timber and forest energy fractions in order to back up the supply of biomass to end-use facilities during seasons, when accessibility to roadside storage locations is limited. However, to utilize terminals efficiently as a part of forest biomass deliveries need to be studied further. When and where from biomass transports to terminals should be focused? What is the effect of road trafficability and bad road seasons on the fuel supply in scenarios of direct and terminal-supported supplies? What is the role of biomass terminals for the drying of fuel by introducing different methods for enhancing the drying such as covering the stored biomass or having larger terminal area? What are the size, location and number of terminals in different supply cases? How to organize terminal-based supply and terminal operations? What are the set-ups of transport and terminal fleet in terms of vehicle/machine sizes, transit volumes, operations models, measuring methods etc.?

In addition, terminals also offer other utilization possibilities than just buffering biomass assortments for bad road delivery seasons. Terminals can be a place for wood exchanges, node for HCT-transports, a place to accumulate low volume load assortments and a place for upgrading fuel quality. Currently, there is not enough knowledge to get adequate answers to the aforementioned concerns. The cost-efficiency of forest chip supply for heat and energy generation can be enhanced in several ways with the support of research and technology development.

LITERATURE

Acuna M., Mirowski L., Ghaffariyan M.R., Brown M. (2012). Optimising transport efficiency and costs in Australian wood chipping operations. Biomass and Bioenergy 46: 291-300. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biombioe.2012.08.014

Alakangas E., Hurskainen M., Laatikainen-Luntama J., Korhonen J. (2016). Properties of indigenous fuels in Finland, VTT Technology 272, 222 p.+ app. 23 p. http://www.vtt.fi/inf/pdf/technology/2016/T272.pdf

Andersson G., Asikainen A., Björheden R., Hall P. W., Hudson J. B., Jirjis R., Mead D. J., Nurmi J., Weetman G. F. (2002). Production of Forest Energy. In: Richardson J., Björheden R., Hakkila P., Lowe A.T., Smith C.T. (ed.). Bioenergy from Sustainable Forestry: Guiding Principles and Practice - Chapter 3. p. 49-123. https://doi.org/10.1007/0-306-47519-7_3

Andersson J. (2008). Hantering av bränsleflis – Enkätundersökning och bedömning av kvalitetsaspekter (Handling of wood chips for fuel - Questionnaire and quality aspects), Växjö Universitet, Institutionen för teknik och design, Avdelning för Bioenergiteknik, 2008, Examensarbete nr: TD 006/2008. 41 p.

Anerud E., Jirjis R., Eliasson L., von Hofsten H. (2016). Efficient of covering on large-scale storage of chips. In: Palmér C.H., Eliasson L. & Iwarsson Wide M. (eds.). Forest Energy for a sustainable future. Composite Report from the R&D Programme - Efficient Forest Fuel Supply Systems 2011-2015. p. 98-101.

Anheller M. (2009). Biomass Losses during Short-term Storage of Bark and Recovered Wood. Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences. Examensarbete 2009:04. 66 p.

Anttila P., Tahvanainen T., Parikka H., Laitila J., Ala-Fossi, A. (2007). Energy Wood Transportation by Rail. 5 EURES Project Report X/2007, Project 5EURES - EIE/04/086/S07.38582. 17 p.

Asikainen A. (1995). Discrete-event simulation of mechanized wood-harvesting systems. Research Notes 38. University of Joensuu, Faculty of Forestry. 86 p.

Asikainen A. (1998). Chipping terminal logistics. Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research 13(3): 386–392. https://doi.org/10.1080/02827589809382998

Asikainen A. (2001). Simulation of Logging and Barge Transport of Wood from Forests on Islands. International Journal of Forest Engineering, 12:2: 43-50.

Asikainen A. (2010). Simulation of stump crushing and truck transport of chips. Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research 25(2010): 245-250. https://doi.org/10.1080/02827581.2010.488656

Ballou R.H. (2004). Business Logistics/Supply Chain Management – Planning, Organizing and Controlling the Supply Chain. 5th edition. Person Prentice Hall. 789 p.

Banks J., Carson II J.S., Nelson B.L., Nicol D.M. (2010). Discrete-Event System Simulation. Fifth Edition. Pearson Education Inc. 640 p.

Belbo H. & Talbot B. (2014). System analysis of the supply chains for whole tree chips. Forests 2014, 5: 2084-2105. https://doi.org/10.3390/f5092084

Blanchard B.S. & Fabrycky W.J. (2011) Systems engineering and analysis. Prentice-Hall international series in industrial and systems engineering. 5th ed. 786 p.

Blanquart C., Clausen U., Jacob B. (2016). Towards Innovative Freight and Logistics. Science, Society and New Technologies Series. Volume 2. 438 p. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781119307785

Carson J.S. (2002). Model Verification and Validation. In: Yücesan E., Chen C.-H., Snowdon J. L., Charnes J. M. (eds.). Proceedings of the 2002 Winter Simulation Conference. p. 52-58. https://doi.org/10.1109/WSC.2002.1172868

Chen C.L.P. & Zhan C-Y. (2014). Data-intensive applications, challenges, techniques and technologies: A survey on Big Data. Information Sciences. Volume 275: 314–347. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ins.2014.01.015

Chen G., Govindan K., Yang Z. (2013). Managing truck arrivals with time windows to alleviate gate congestion at container terminals. Int. J. Production Economics 141: 179-188. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2012.03.033

Christopher M. (2016). Logistics & Supply Chain Management. 5th edition. Pearson UK. 328 p.

Crosby P.A. (1994). Logistics process reengineering. 79th Annual International Conference Proceedings. Available at: https://www.instituteforsupplymanagement.org/pubs/Proceedings/confproceedingsdetail.cf m?ItemNumber=5243&SSO=1 [Cited 20 July 2017].

Eliasson L, Granlund P, von Hofsten H, Björheden R. (2012). Studie av en lastbilsmonterad kross – CBI 5800 study of a truck-mounted CBI 5800 grinder. Arbetsrapport Från Skogforsk nr. 775. 16 p.

Eliasson L., Eriksson A., Motashami, S. (2017). Analysis of factors affecting productivity and costs for a high-performance chip supply system. Applied Energy 185: 497-505. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2016.10.136

Enström J. (2008). Efficient handling of wood fuel within the railway system. In: Suadicani K. & Talbot B. (eds.). The Nordic-Baltic conference on forest operations, Copenhagen, 23–25 September 2008. Forest and Landscape. Working Papers 30/2008. p. 53–55.

Enström J. & Winberg P. (2009). Systemtransporter av skogsbränsle på järnväg. Arbetsrapport från Skogforsk nr 678. 28 p.

http://www.skogforsk.se/contentassets/eb4fafa65aa4450f800612131e1d3df6/arbetsrapport-678-2009.pdf.

Enström J., Athanassiadis D., Öhman, M., Grönlund Ö. (2013). Framgångsfaktorer för större skogbränsle terminaler [Success factors for larger energy wood terminals]. Working paper 813-2013. Uppsala: Skogforsk. 42 p.

https://www.skogforsk.se/contentassets/5828510ce81a47c3849b4385e2b8aed0/framgangsf aktorer-for-storre-skogsbransleterminaler.pdf

Enström J. (2016a). Ship transport of forest fuel. In: Palmér C.H., Eliasson L., Iwarsson Wide M. (eds.). Forest Energy for a sustainable future. Composite Report from the R&D Programme - Efficient Forest Fuel Supply Systems 2011-2015. p. 110-113.

Enström J. (2016b). Forest fuel logistics – efficient transports. In: Palmér C.H., Eliasson L., Iwarsson Wide M. (eds.). Forest Energy for a sustainable future. Composite Report from the R&D Programme - Efficient Forest Fuel Supply Systems 2011-2015. p. 98-101.

Erber G., Kanzian C., Stampfer K. (2012). Prediciting moisture content in a pine logwood pile for energy purposes. Silva Fennica 46(4): 555-567. https://doi.org/10.14214/sf.910

Eriksson A., Eliasson L. & Jirjis R. (2014a). Simulation-Based evaluation of supply chains for stump fuel. International Journal of Forest Engineering 25(1): 23-36. https://doi.org/10.1080/14942119.2014.892293

Eriksson A., Eliasson L., Hansson, P-A., Jirjis R. (2014b). Effects of Supply Chain Strategy on Stump Fuel Cost: A Simulation Approach. International Journal of Forest Research, Vol 2014, Article ID 984395, 11 p. https://doi.org/10.1155/2014/984395

Eriksson A. (2016). Improving the Efficiency of Forest Fuel Supply Chains. Doctoral Thesis. Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences. 73 p.

Eriksson A., Eliasson L., Sikanen L., Hansson P-A., Jirjis R. (2017). Evaluation of delivery strategies for forest fuels applying a model for Weather-driven Analysis of Forest Fuel Systems (WAFFS). Applied Energy 188: 420–430. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2016.12.018

Eurostat. (2017). Wood as a source of energy. Available: http://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/statistics-explained/index.php/Wood_as_a_source_of_energy. [Cited 18 August 2017].

Farewell to fossil oil. (2015). Regional council of North Karelia. 2 p. http://pohjoiskarjala.fi/documents/4403634/4562363/Farewell+to+fossil+oil_brochure_korjattu.pdf/a5d8 01e0-0e5a-4319-9bee-d311705c9b10. [Cited 14 September 2017]. Fey P., Gojobori T., Hannick L., Hide W., Hill D.P., Kania R., Schaeffer M., St Pierre S., Twigger S., White O., Y. Rhee S.Y., Howe D., Costanzo M. (2008). Big data: the future of biocuration. Nature, 455 (7209). p. 47–50. https://doi.org/10.1038/455047a

Filbakk T., Høibø O.A., Dibdiakova J., Nurmi J. (2011). Modelling moisture content and dry matter loss during storage of logging residues for energy. Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research 26(3): 267-277. https://doi.org/10.1080/02827581.2011.553199

Flickinger, B.H. & Baker, T.E. (1995). Supply chain management in the 1990s. APICS-The performance advantage, Feb., pp. 24-28.

Frazelle E. (2002). Supply Chain Strategy. The Logistics of Supply Chain Management. The McGraw-Hill Companies, Inc. p. 357.

Gautam S., Pulkki R., Chander S., Leitch M. (2012). Fuel quality changes in full tree logging residue during storage in roadside slash piles in Northwestern Ontario. Biomass & Bioenergy 42: 43-50. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biombioe.2012.03.015

Gautam S., LeBel L., Carle M-A. (2017). Supply chain model to assess the feasibility of incorporating a terminal between forests and biorefineries. Applied Energy 198: 377-384. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2017.01.021

Ghazanfari D. (2008). Vesitiekuljetus vaihtoehtoisena metsäpolttoaineiden kaukokuljetusmuotona –hankintaketjujen hiilidioksidipäästövertailu. Kansantaloudellisen metsäekonomian pro gradu - työ. Helsingin yliopisto. 82 p. https://helda.helsinki.fi/bitstream/handle/10138/42905/vesitiek.pdf?sequence=1

Goel A. (2012). The minimum duration truck driver scheduling problem. EURO J Transp Logist 1:285-306. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13676-012-0014-9

Grover V., Malhotra M.K. (1997). Business process reengineering: A tutorial on the concept, evolution, method, technology and application. Journal of Operations Management 15(3): 193-213. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0272-6963(96)00104-0

Groznik A., & Maslaric M. (2009). Investigating the impact of information sharing in a two-level supply chain using business process modeling and simulations: a case study. In: Otamendi J., Bargiela A., Montes J.L., Doncel Pedrera L.M. (eds.). ECMS 2009 Proceedings. European Council for Modeling and Simulation. pp. 39-45 doi:10.7148/2009-0039-0045

Hakkila P. (1978). Pienpuun korjuu polttoaineeksi (Harvesting small-sized wood for fuel). Folia Forestalia 342. 38 p.

Hakkila P. (1985). Pienpuun ja metsätähteen korjuu energiakäyttöön. (Harvesting of smallwood and forest residues for energy use). In: Hakkila P. (ed.). Metsaenergian mahdollisuudet Suomessa, PERA-projektin väliraportti. Folia Forestalia 624. Finnish Forest Research Institute. 76 p. Hakkila P. (2004). Puuenergian teknologiaohjelma 1999-2003. Metsähakkeen tuotantoteknologia. Loppuraportti. Tekes. Teknologiaohjelmaraportti 5/2004. Helsinki 2004. 135 p.

Hakkila P., Nurmi J., Kalaja, H. (1998). Metsänuudistusalojen hakkuutähde energialähteenä. Metsäntutkimuslaitoksen tiedonantoja 684. 68 p.

Hammer M. (1990). Reengineering work: don't automate, obliterate. Harvard Business Review. Vol. 68(4). p. 104.

Handfield R.B. & Nichols E.L. (1999). Introduction to Supply Chain Management. Prentice-Hall, Upper Saddle River, NJ.

Harstela P. (2006). Kustannustehokas metsänhoito. 128 p.

Henderson S.G. & Nelson B.L. (2006). Stochastic Computer Simulation. In: Henderson S.G. and Nelson B.L. (eds.). Handbooks in Operations Research and Management Science. Vol. 13. p. 1-18.

Hillier F. & Lieberman G. (1974). Operations research. 2. Ed. San Francisco. 800 p.

Hiltunen J. (2010). Metsähakkeen vesitiekuljetuksen simulointi Saimaan vesistössä. [Simulation of wateway transport of forest chips in lake Saimaa]. Proseminar work. University of Eastern Finland. 25 p.

Hofmann N., Mendel T., Schulmeyer F., Kuptz, D., Borchet, H., Hartmann, H. (2017). Drying effects and dry matter losses during seasonal storage of spruce wood chips under practical conditions (In press). Biomass and Bioenergy xxx (2017): 1-10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biombioe.2017.03.022

Holzleitner F., Kanzian C., Höller N. (2013). Monitoring the chipping and transportation of wood fuels with a fleet management system. Silva Fennica vol. 47 no. 1 article id 899. 11 p. https://doi.org/10.14214/sf.899

Hugos M.H. (2003). Essentials of Supply Chain Management. John Wiley & Sons. 254 p.

Huttunen R. (2017). Valtioneuvoston selonteko kansallisesta energia- ja ilmastostrategiasta vuoteen 2030. Työ- ja elinkeinoministeriön julkaisuja 4/2017. 119 p.

Huynh N. & Walton C.M. (2008). Robust scheduling of truck arrivals at marine container terminals. Journal of Transportation Engineering. 134 (8): 347-353. https://doi.org/10.1061/(ASCE)0733-947X(2008)134:8(347)

Huynh N. & Hutson N. (2005). Mining the sources of delay for dray trucks at container terminals. Transportation Research Board. Vol. 2066: 41-49. https://doi.org/10.3141/2066-05

Iikkanen P., Keskinen S., Korpilahti A., Räsänen T., Sirkiä, A. (2014). Energiapuuvirtojen valtakunnallinen optimointimalli 2014 – Mallin kuvaus ja käyttömahdollisuudet. Liikenneviraston tutkimuksia ja selvityksiä 54/2014. 31 p. http://www2.liikennevirasto.fi/julkaisut/pdf8/lts_2014-54_energiapuuvirtojen_valtakunnallinen_web.pdf

Impola R. (2001). Puupolttoaineille soveltuvat vastaanotto- ja käsittelyjärjestelmät. In: Alakangas E. (ed.). Puuenergian teknologiaohjelman vuosikirja 2001. VTT Symposiumi 216: 315-328.

Islam D.M.Z., Meier J.F., Aditjandra P.T., Zunder T.H., Pace G. (2013). Logistics and supply chain management. Research in Transportation Economics 41: 3-16. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.retrec.2012.10.006

Jahangirian M., Eldabi T., Naseer A., Stergioulas L.K., Young T. (2010). Simulation in manufacturing and business: A review. European Journal of Operational Research 203:1-13. https://doi-org.ezproxy.uef.fi:2443/10.1016/j.ejor.2009.06.004

Jirjis R. & Lehtikangas P. (1993). Bränslekvalitet och substansförluster vid vältelagring av hyggesrester [Fuel quality and dry matter loss during storage of logging residues in a windrow]. Uppsala, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences. Report No. 236. 126 p.

Jirjis R. & Norden B. (2005). Bränslekvalitet och arbetsmiljö vid lagring och handtering av grotstockar [Fuel quality and working enviroment during storage and handling of composite residue logs]. Uppsala, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences. Report No. 7. 137 p.

Jirjis R. (1995). Storage and drying of wood fuel. Biomass and Bioenergy, 9(1), pp. 181-190. https://doi.org/10.1016/0961-9534(95)00090-9

Kaipainen J. (2017). Tähtiyrittäjien ja puutavaran kuljetusyrittäjien liiketoiminnan nykytila ja sen kehittyminen Stora Enso Metsässä. Itä-Suomen yliopisto. Luonnontieteiden ja metsätieteiden tiedekunta / Metsätieteiden osasto. Pro gradu.

Kärhä K. & Peltola J. (2004). Metsäkoneiden monikäyttöisyys. Metsätehon raportti 181. 17 p. http://www.metsateho.fi/wp-content/uploads/2015/02/metsatehon_raportti_181.pdf

Karttunen K., Lättilä L., Korpinen O.-J., Ranta T. (2013). Cost-efficiency of inter modal container supply chain for forest chips. Silva Fennica vol. 47 no. 4 article id 1047. 24 p. https://doi.org/10.14214/sf.1047

Karttunen K., Föhr J., Ranta T., Palojärvi K., Korpilahti A. (2012). Puupolttoaineiden ja polttoturpeen kuljetuskalusto 2010. 17 p. http://www.metsateho.fi/wpcontent/uploads/2015/02/Tuloskalvosarja_2012_02_Puupolttoa ineiden_ja_polttoturpeen_kuljetuskalusto_ak_ym .pdf. [Cited 15 Sep 2017].

Karttunen K., Jäppinen E., Väätäinen K., Ranta T. (2008). Metsäpolttoaineiden vesitiekuljetus proomukalustolla. Lappeenrannan teknillinen yliopisto. Tutkimusraportti ENTE B-177. 54 p.

Karttunen K., Väätäinen K., Asikainen A., Ranta T. (2012). The operational efficiency of waterway transport of forest chips on Finland's Lake Saimaa. Silva Fennica 46(3): 395–413. https://doi.org/10.14214/sf.49

Kinnunen J.-P. (2016). Hakkuutähteen fast track -hankinnan kannattavuus ja mahdollisuudet. Helsingin yliopisto. Metsätieteiden laitos. 56 p.

Kons K., Bergström D., Eriksson U., Athanassiadis D., Nordfjell, T. (2014). Characteristics of Swedish forest biomass terminals for energy. International Journal of Forest Engineering. Vol. 25, No. 3: 238-246. https://doi.org/10.1080/14942119.2014.980494

Korpilahti A. (1987). Puutavaratoimitusten ajoitus tehdasvastaanoton kustannusten optimoinnissa; jonoteoriaa soveltava tarkastelu. Metsätalouden liiketieteen lisensiaattityö. Helsingin Yliopisto. 80 p.

Korpilahti A. (2015). Bigger vehicles to improve forest energy transport. Sustainable Bioenergy Solutions for Tomorrow (BEST) research program. Metsätehon tuloskalvosarja 2/2015. 33 p. http://www.metsateho.fi/wpcontent/uploads/2015/02/Tuloskalvosarja_2015_03_Bigger_vehicles_to_improve_forest_e

content/uploads/2015/02/Tuloskalvosarja_2015_03_Bigger_vehicles_to_improve_torest_e nergy_transport_ak.pdf. [Cited 15 Sep 2017].

Laitila J. (2012). Methodology for choice of harvesting system for energy wood from early thinning. Dissertationes Forestales 143. 68 p. https://doi.org/10.14214/df.143

Laitila J. & Väätäinen K. (2012). Truck transportation and chipping productivity of whole trees and delimbed energy wood in Finland. Croatian Journal of Forest Engineering 33(2): 199-210.

Laitila J. & Nuutinen Y. (2014.) Efficiency of integrated grinding and screening of stump wood for fuel at roadside landing with a low-speed double-shaft grinder and a star screen. Croatian Journal of Forest Engineering. Vol.36 No.1 Veljača 2015. p. 19-32.

Laitila J., Ahtikoski A., Repola J., Routa J. (2017). Pre-feasibility study of supply systems based on artificial drying of delimbed stem forest chips. Silva Fennica vol. 51 no. 4 article id 5659. 18 p. https://doi.org/10.14214/sf.5659

Laitila J., Asikainen A., Anttila P. (2008). Energiapuuvarat. In: Kuusinen M. (ed.). Energiapuun korjuun ympäristövaikutukset. Tapion ja Metlan julkaisuja. p. 6–12. http://www.metla.fi/julkaisut/muut/2008-02-08-energiapuun-korjuu-raportti.pdf

Laitila J., Leinonen A., Flyktman M., Virkkunen M., Asikainen, A. (2010). Metsähakkeen hankinta- ja toimituslogistiikan haasteet ja kehittämistarpeet. Espoo 2010. VTT Tiedotteita – Research Notes 2564. 143 p.

Leenders, M. L., Fearon, H. E. (1997). Purchasing and Supply Management. 11th ed. New York: McGraw-Hill.

Lättilä L. (2012). Improving transportation and warehousing efficiency with simulationbased decision support systems. Acta Universitatis Lappeenrantaensis 478. Diss. Lappeenranta University of Technology. 88 p.

Luke stats. (2017). Energy consumption in Finland by energy source, 2016. http://stat.luke.fi/sites/default/files/energian_kulutus_energialahteittain_2016.pdf. [Cited 1 Now 2017].

Malcolm D.G. (1958). Report on systems Simulation Symposium Co-Sponsored by AIIE, ORSA and TIMS, New York, May, 1958. Baltimore Wawerly Press. 106 p.

Mentzer J.T., DeWitt W., Keebler J.S., Min S., Nix N.W., Smith C.D., Zacharia Z.G. (2001). Defining supply chain management. Journal of Business Logistics, 22(2): 1-25. https://doi.org/10.1002/j.2158-1592.2001.tb00001.x

Metsäalan kone- ja autokustannusindeksi – Mekki 2010 = 100. 2013. Menetelmäseloste. Tilastokeskus. 19 p. http://tilastokeskus.fi/til/mekki/mekki_2013-10-14_men_001.pdf. . [Cited 11 Now 2017].

Metsäteho. (2017). Puutavaran HCT-yhdistelmien tutkimus. Kuljetusliike Wickström Oy. http://www.metsateho.fi/hct/#kuljetusliike-wickstrom-oy. [Cited 10 Now 2017].

Morais P. & Lord E. (2006). Terminal Appointment System Study. Transportation Development Centre of Transport Canada. 102 p. http://www.tc.gc.ca/tdc/publication/pdf/14500/14570e.pdf. [Cited 15 Sep 2017].

Murthy P.R. (2007). Operations Research. New Age International (P) Ltd., Publishers. 720 p.

Namidi F. (2015). Truck routing and scheduling for wood chip transportation to a pulp mill using simulated annealing. University of British Columbia, Vancouver. 115 p.

Naylor T.H. & Finger J.M. (1967). Verification of Computer Simulation Models. Management Science, Vol. 2. p. 92–101. https://doi.org/10.1287/mnsc.14.2.B92

Naylor T.J., Balintfy J.L., Burdick D.S., Chu. K. (1966). Computer Simulation Techniques. Wiley, NY. 352 p.

Nojonen O. & Järvinen T. (1996). Tehokas ja pölytön seospolttoaineiden vastaanottoasema sekä käsittely- ja kuljetunjärjestelmä. In: Alakangas E. (ed.). Bioenergian tutkimusohjelma. Vuosikirja 1995, osa III. Bioenergian käyttö ja biomassan jalostus. p. 96–97.

Nordfjell T. & Liss J.-E. (2000). Compressing and Drying of Bunched Trees from a Commercial Thinning. Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research. 15:2. P.284-290. https://doi.org/10.1080/028275800750015109 Nousiainen V. (2012). Puutavaran autokuljetusten pullonkaulat nykytoimintaympäristössä. Metsätieteen pro-gradu. Itä-Suomen yliopisto. 92 p.

Nurmi J. (1999). The storage of logging residues for fuel. Biomass & Bioenergy 17(1): 41-47. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0961-9534(99)00023-9

Nurmi J. & Hillebrand K. (2007). The characteristics of whole-tree fuel stocks from silvicultural cleanings and thinnings. Biomass and Bioenergy 31(6): 381-392. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biombioe.2007.01.010

Nurmi J. (1990). Polttohakkeen varastointi suurissa aumoissa. Folia Forestalia. 767. 18 p.

Obernberger I. (1998). Decentralized biomass combustion: State of the art and future development. Biomass and Bioenergy 14: 33-56. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0961-9534(97)00034-2

Ojala L. (1992). Modeling approaches in port planning and analysis. Publications of the Turku School of Economics and Business Administration. Series A-4:1993. 119 p.

Petterson M. & Nordfjell T. (2007). Fuel quality changes during seasonal storage of compacted logging residues and young trees. Biomass & Bioenergy 31(11-12): 782-792. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biombioe.2007.01.009

Pitkän aikavälin ilmasto- ja energiastrategia. (2008). Ympäristöministeriön sektoriselvitys. Ympäristöministeriön raportteja 19. 130 p.

https://helda.helsinki.fi/bitstream/handle/10138/41462/YMra_19_2008_Pitkan_aikavalin_il masto-_ja_energiastrategia_-_Ymparistoministerion_sektoriselvitys_.pdf?sequence=1 [Cited 22 Sep 2017].

Raitila J., Virkkunen M., Heiskanen V-P. (2014). Metsäpolttoaineiden varastoitavuus runkoina ja hakkeena sekä lämmöntuotantoon integroitu metsäpolttoaineen kuivaus. VTT:n tutkimusraportteja VTT-R-04524-14. 64 p. http://www.vtt.fi/inf/julkaisut/muut/2014/VTT-R-04524-14.pdf. [Cited 22 Sep 2017].

Raitila J. & Korpinen O-J. (2016). The concept of terminal in the supply chain. In: Sikanen L, Korpinen O-J, Tornberg J, Saarentaus T, Leppänen K, Jahkonen M (eds.). Energy Biomass Supply Chain Concepts Including Terminals. Luke reports. p. 6–7.

Raitila J. & Sikanen L. (2016). Dry matter losses. In: Sikanen L, Korpinen O-J, Tornberg J, Saarentaus T, Leppänen K, Jahkonen M (eds.). Energy Biomass Supply Chain Concepts Including Terminals. Luke reports. p. 63–65.

Raitila J. & Virkkunen M. (2016). Terminals in Sweden and Finland. In: Sikanen L, Korpinen O-J, Tornberg J, Saarentaus T, Leppänen K, Jahkonen M (eds.). Energy Biomass Supply Chain Concepts Including Terminals. Luke reports. p. 8–10. Ranta T. (2002). Logging residues from regeneration fellings for biofuel production – a GIS-based availability and supply cost analysis. Väitöskirja, Acta Universitatis Lappeenrantaensis 128, Lappeenrannan teknillinen yliopisto. 180 p.

Ranta T., Asikainen A., Lehikoinen M., Väätäinen K., Halonen K., Frilander P. (2002). Metsähakkeen autokuljetuksen logistiikka. Tutkimusselostus PRO/T6042/02. VTT Prosessit. 31 s.

Ranta T., Halonen P., Frilander P., Asikainen A., Lehikoinen M., Väätäinen K. (2002). In: Alakangas, E (ed.). Metsähakkeen autokuljetuksen logistiikka – PUUT20. Puuenergian teknologiaohjelman vuosikirja 2002. VTT Symposiumi 221. p. 119–134. Ranta T. & Rinne S. (2006).The profitability of transporting uncomminuted raw materials in Finland. Biomass & Bioenergy (30)3: 231-237. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biombioe.2005.11.012

Ranta T., Korpinen O-J., Jäppinen E., Karttunen K. (2012). Forest Biomass Availability Analysis and Large-Scale Supply Options. Open Journal of Forestry. Vol.2, No.1. p. 33-40. https://doi.org/10.4236/ojf.2012.21005

Ranta T., Korpinen O-J., Jäppinen E., Virkkunen M. (2014). Biomass supply logistics via terminals for large-scale biomass users. Conference proceedings. Bioenergy from Forest. 15.-18.9.2014. p. 67-74.

Ravindran A., Phillips D., Solberg J. (1987). Operations Research Principles and Practice. JohnWiley &Sons, 2nd edition. 637 p.

Render B. & Stair R.M. (1992). Introduction to management science. Allyn & Bacon. 856 p.

Repo A., Tuomi M., Liski J. (2011). Indirect carbon dioxide emissions from producing bioenergy from forest harvest residues. GCB Bioenergy (2011) 3: 107–115. https://doi.org/10.1080/028275800750015109

Röser D., Mola-Yudego B., Sikanen L., Prinz R., Gritten D., Emer B., Väätäinen K., Erkkilä A. (2011). Natural drying treatments during seasonal storage of wood for energy in different European locations. Biomass & Bioenergy 35(10): 4238-4247. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biombioe.2011.07.011

Ross S.M. (2006). Simulation. Fourth Edition. Elsevier Inc. 298 p.

Rossetti M. D. (2016). Simulation modeling and Arena®. John Wiley & Sons, Inc. 719 p.

Routa J., Asikainen A., Björheden R., Laitila J., Röser D. (2013). Forest energy procurement: state of the art in Finland and Sweden. Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Energy and Environment (2) 6: 602-613. https://doi.org/10.1002/wene.24

Routa J., Kolström M., Ruotsalainen J., Sikanen L. (2015). Precision measurement of forest harvesting residue moisture change and dry matter losses by constant weight monitoring. International Journal of Forest Engineering, 26:1, p. 71-83. https://doi.org/10.1080/14942119.2015.1012900

Routa J., Kolström M., Ruotsalainen, J., Sikanen L. (2016). Validation of prediction models for estimating the moisture content of logging residues during storage. Biomass and Bioenergy 94: 85-93. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biombioe.2016.08.019

Rushton A., Croucher P., Baker P. (2014). The Handbook of Logistics and Distribution Management: Understanding the Supply Chain. Kogan Page Publishers. 720 p.

Saksa T., Tervo L., Kautto K. (2002). Hakkuutähde ja metsänuudistaminen. Metsäntutkimuslaitoksen tiedonantoja 851. 41 p.

Sargent R.C. (2011). Verification and Validation of Simulation Models. In: Jain S., Creasey R.R., Himmelspach J., White K.P., Fu M. (eds.). Proceedings of the 2011 Winter Simulation Conference. p. 183–198. https://doi.org/10.1109/WSC.2011.6147750

Seppälä J., Asikainen A., Kalliokoski T., Kanninen M., Koskela S., Ratinen I., Routa J. (2017). Tutkijoiden pääviestit metsien käytön ilmastovaikutuksista. Suomen Ilmastopaneeli – The Finnish Climate Change Panel. Raportti 1/2017. 18 p. http://www.ilmastopaneeli.fi/uploads/selvitykset_lausunnot/Ilmastopaneeli_mets%C3%A4 v%C3%A4tt%C3%A4t_final_%202017.pdf [Cited 13 Nov 2017].

Shannon R.E. (1975). Systems simulation: The Art and Science. Prentice-Hall. 387 p.

Sikanen L. (2016). Fast-Track approach. In: Sikanen L, Korpinen O-J, Tornberg J, Saarentaus T, Leppänen K, Jahkonen M (eds.). Energy Biomass Supply Chain Concepts Including Terminals. Luke reports. p. 67-69.

Sikanen L., Röser D., Anttila P., Prinz R. (2013). Forecasting algorithm for natural drying of energy wood in forest storages. Forest Energy Observer 27. 7p.

Simulation-Based Engineering Science. (2006). Revolutionizing Engineering Science through Simulation. May 2006. Report of the National Science Foundation Blue Ribbon Panel on Simulation-Based Engineering Science. 66 p. https://www.nsf.gov/pubs/reports/sbes_final_report.pdf. [Cited 22 Sep 2017].

Singh V.P. (2009). System modeling and simulation. New Age International (P) Ltd., Publishers. 247 p.

Sokolowski J.A. & Banks C.M. (2009). Principles of Modeling and Simulation: A Multidisciplinary Approach. John Wiley & Sons. 259 p.

Sorsa J. (2013). Raakapuun aluskuljetuksen käyttömahdollisuudet Pielisellä. Karelia-Ammattikorkeakoulu. Metsätalouden koulutusohjelma. Opinnäytetyö. 76 p. Spaven D., Elder D., McCrossan, D. (2006). Business Opportunities for the Marine Transport of Timber in Scotland. Final report. Deltix transport consulting. 80 p.

Spinelli R. & Visser R. (2009). Analyzing and estimating delays in wood chipping operations. Biomass Bioenergy 33:429–433. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biombioe.2008.08.003

Spinelli R., Di Gironimo G., Esposito G., Magagnotti N. (2014). Alternative supply chains for logging residues under access constraints. Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research, 29:3, 266-274. https://doi.org/10.1080/02827581.2014.896939

Strandström M. (2017). Metsähakkeen tuotantoketjut Suomessa vuonna 2016. Metsätehon tuloskalvosarja 6/2017. 20 p. http://www.metsateho.fi/wp-content/uploads/Tuloskalvosarja_2017_06_Metsahakkeen_tuotantoketjut_2016.pdf. [Cited 22 Sep 2017].

Surbhi S. (2015). Difference Between Logistics and Supply Chain Management. http://keydifferences.com/difference-between-logistics-and-supply-chain-management.html [Cited 29 Jun 2017].

Sweeney E. (2000). The system approach to supply chain re-engineering. Dublin Institute of Technology ARROW@DIT. Practitioner Journals. National Institute for Transport and Logistics. 8 p. https://arrow.dit.ie/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1080&context=nitloth

Taha H.A. (2007). Operations research : an introduction. Pearson/Prentice Hall cop. 2007. 8th ed. 813 p.

Tahvanainen T. & Anttila P. (2011). Supply chain cost analysis of long-distance transportation of energy wood in Finland. Biomass and Bioenergy 35: 3360–3375. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biombioe.2010.11.014

Taipalus J. (2013). Metsäalan Kuljetusyrittäjät Ry - Jäsentyytyväisyys 2012. Hämeen ammattikorkeakoulu. Opinnäytetyö. 36 p. http://www.theseus.fi/bitstream/handle/10024/59564/METSAALAN+KULJETUSYRITTA JAT+ry_Jasentyytyvaisyys_uusi+2012.pdf;jsessionid=EF3D31499CB349D50C4AF93B23 9083DD?sequence=1. [Cited 12 Sep 2017].

Talbot B. & Suadicani K. (2005). Analysis of Two Simulated In-field Chipping and Extraction Systems in Spruce Thinnings. Biosystems Engineering: 91 (3). p. 283–292. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biosystemseng.2005.04.014

Thörnqvist T. & Jirjis R. (1990). Bränsleflisens förändring över tiden – vid lagring I stora stackar. Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences. Department of Forestry. Report No. 219.

Thörnqvist T. (1983). Lagring av sönderdelade hyggesrester. Uppsala, The Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences. Report No. 137. p.178.
Tilastokeskus. (2015). Keskimääräinen kuljetusmatka ja kuormausaste kotimaan liikenteessä tavaralajeittain vuonna 2014. Tilasto. http://www.stat.fi/til/kttav/2014/kttav_2014_2015-05-13_tau_010_fi.html. [Cited 12 Sep 2017].

Tilastokeskus. (2016). Keskimääräinen kuljetusmatka ja kuormausaste kotimaan liikenteessä tavaralajeittain vuonna 2015. Tilasto. http://www.stat.fi/til/kttav/2015/kttav_2015_2016-05-18_tau_010_fi.html. [Cited 12 Sep 2017].

Tilastokeskus. (2017). Keskimääräinen kuljetusmatka ja kuormausaste kotimaan liikenteessä tavaralajeittain vuonna 2016. Tilasto. http://www.stat.fi/til/kttav/2016/kttav_2016_2017-04-28_tau_010_fi.html. [Cited 12 Sep 2017].

Tokola T. & Kalliovirta J. (2003). Paikkatietoanalyysi. Helsingin yliopiston metsävarojen käytön laitoksen julkaisuja 34. 185 s.

Torvelainen J., Ylitalo E., Nouro P. (2014). Puun energiakäyttö 2013. Metsätilastotiedote (SVT Maa-, metsä- ja kalatalous) 2014(31/2014). 7 p.

Väätäinen K., Anttila P., Annevelink B. (2016). Logistical case study in Finland D3.4, D3.6 (Annex 3). S2Biom Project Grant Agreement n°608622. 23 p. http://www.s2biom.eu/images/Publications/D3.4_D3.6_S2Biom_Annex_3_Logistical_case _study_in_Finland_FINAL.pdf. [Cited 13 Sep 2017].

Väätäinen K., Anttila P., Laitila J., Nuutinen Y., Asikainen A. (2014). Aines- ja energiapuun kaukokuljetuksen tulevaisuuden haasteet ja teknologiat. Metlan työraportteja 291. 31 p. http://www.metla.fi/julkaisut/workingpapers/2014/mwp291.pdf

Väätäinen K., Asikainen A., Eronen J. (2002). Metsähakkeen ja turpeen vastaanottotoimintojen kehittäminen Kuopion Energian Haapaniemen voimalaitoksella. Metsähakkeen autokuljetuksen logistiikan ja kuljetuskaluston kehittäminen – PUUT 20. Puuenergian teknologiaohjelman raportteja. 23 p.

Väätäinen K., Asikainen, A., Eronen, J. (2005). Improving the Logistics of Biofuel Reception at the Power Plant of Kuopio City. International Journal of Forest Engineering 16(1): 51-64. https://journals.lib.unb.ca/index.php/ijfe/article/view/9840/9971

Väätäinen K., Ikonen T., Ala-Ilomäki J., Sirén M., Lamminen S., Asikainen A. (2012). Kuljettajaa opastavat älykkäät järjestelmät ja niiden käyttö koneellisessa puunkorjuussa. Metlan työraportteja 223. 40 p. http://www.metla.fi/julkaisut/workingpapers/2012/mwp223.pdf

Väätäinen K., Lamminen S., Sirén M., Ala-Ilomäki, J. & Asikainen, A. (2010). Ympärivuotisen puunkorjuun kustannusvaikutukset ojitetuilla turvemailla – korjuuyrittäjätason simulointitutkimus. Metlan työraportteja184. 57 p. http://www.metla.fi/julkaisut/workingpapers/2010/mwp184.pdf Väätäinen K., Lappalainen M., Asikainen A., Anttila P. (2008). Kohti kustannustehokkaampaa puunkorjuuta – puunkorjuuyrittäjän uusien toimintamallien simulointi. Metlan työraportteja 73. 52 p. http://www.metla.fi/julkaisut/workingpapers/2008/mwp073.pdf

Väätäinen K., Prinz R., Malinen J., Laitila J., Sikanen L. (2017). Alternative operation models for using a feed-in terminal as a part of the forest chip supply system for a CHP plant. Global Change Biology Bioenergy 9(11): 1657–1673. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcbb.12463

Valtioneuvoston asetus ajoneuvojen käytöstä tiellä annetun asetuksen muuttamisesta. (2013). Finlex, lainsäädäntö. Asetukset 407/2013. http://www.finlex.fi/fi/laki/alkup/2013/20130407. [Cited 20 Nov 2017].

Venäläinen P. & Poikela A. (2016). D 3.2.1-4 Energiapuun kuljetuskaluston ja menopaluukuljetusten skenaariot. Metsätehon tuloskalvosarja 2a/2016. 66 p. http://www.metsateho.fi/wpcontent/uploads/Tuloskalvosarja_2016_02a_Energiapuun_kuljetuskaluston_ja_menopaluukuljetusten_skenaariot.pdf

Venäläinen P. & Korpilahti A. (2015). HCT-ajoneuvoyhdistelmien vaikutus puutavarakuljetusten tehostamisessa – Esiselvitys. Työ- ja elinkeinoministeriön julkaisuja. 30/2015. 73 p.

Venäläinen P., Aalto M., Heljanko E., Hilmola O-P., Korpinen O-J., Ovaskainen H., Pesonen M., Poikela A. (2017). Terminaalitoiminnot energiatehokkaassa puutavaralogistiikassa. T3 Uudet terminaalikonseptit ja –verkostot. Metsätehon raportti 242. 80 p. http://www.metsateho.fi/wpcontent/uploads/Raportti_242_Terminaalitoiminnot_energiatehokkassa_puutavaralogistiika ssa_T3.pdf [Cited 20 Sep 2017].

Verkasalo E. (1988). Polttohakkeen ja -hakepuun mittaus. Työtehoseuran metsätiedote 447. Helsinki: Työtehoseura. 3 s.

Virkkunen M. & Raitila J. (2016). Effective large scale terminal. In: Sikanen L., Korpinen O-J., Tornberg J., Saarentaus T., Leppänen K., Jahkonen M. (eds.). Energy Biomass Supply Chain Concepts Including Terminals. Luke reports. p. 10-13.

Virkkunen M., Kari M., Hankalin V., Nummelin J. (2015). Solid biomass fuel terminal concepts and a cost analysis of a satellite terminal concept. VTT. 69 p.

Virkkunen M., Raitila, J, Korpinen O-J. (2016). Cost analysis of a satellite terminal for forest fuel supply in Finland. Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research. Vol. 31, NO. 2. 175-182. https://doi.org/10.1080/02827581.2015.1082617

White K.P. & Ingalls, R.G. (2009). Introduction to simulation. In: Rossetti M.D., Hill R.R., Johansson B., Dunkin A., Ingalls, R.G. (eds.). Proceedings of the 2009 Winter Simulation Conference, p. 12–23. https://doi.org/10.1109/WSC.2009.5429315

Windisch J., Röser D., Sikanen L., Routa J. (2013). Reenegineering business processes to improve an integrated roundwood and energywood procurement chain. International Journal of Forest Engineering 24(3): 233-248. doi: 10.1080/14942119.2013.857833

Windisch J. (2015). Process redesign in development of forest biomass supply for energy. Dissertationes Forestales 189. 55 p. https://doi.org/10.14214/df.189

Windisch J., Väätäinen K., Anttila P., Nivala M., Laitila J., Asikainen A., Sikanen L. (2015). Discrete-event simulation of an information-based raw material allocation process for increasing the efficiency of an energy wood supply chain. Applied Energy. Vol 149: 315-325.

Witness. (1996). Witness. Release 8. Book 2 – Creating Witness models. Lanner Group. 206 p.

Wolfsmayr U. & Rauch P. (2014) The primary forest fuel supply chain : A literature review. Biomass and Bioenery. 60:203-221. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biombioe.2013.10.025

Ylitalo. E. (2013). Puun energiakäyttö 2012. Metsätilastotiedote, Metsäntutkimuslaitos. 15/2013. 6 p. http://www.metla.fi/metinfo/tilasto/julkaisut/mtt/2013/puupolttoaine2012.pdf. [Cited 18 Sep 2017].

Ylitalo E. (2017). Puun energiakäyttö 2016. http://stat.luke.fi/puunenergiak%C3%A4ytt%C3%B6-2016_fi. [Cited 18 Sep 2017].

Zamora-Cristales R., Boston K., Sessions J., Murphy G. (2013). Stochastic simulation and optimization of mobile chipping and transportation of forest biomass from harvest residues. Silva Fennica 47(5): 22. https://doi.org/10.14214/sf.937